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OUVERTURE DE L’AUDIENCE 1 

THE CLERK: 2 

La Commission d’enquête sur les relations entre les 3 

Autochtones et certains services publics au Québec, 4 

présidée par l’honorable Jacques Viens, est 5 

maintenant ouverte. 6 

L’HONORABLE JACQUES VIENS (THE COMMISSIONER): 7 

So welcome on this Friday morning in Kuujjuarapik.  8 

Welcome to you to the hearing.  I will first ask 9 

counsels present to identify themselves for the 10 

record. 11 

Me Édith-Farah Elassal, 12 

FOR THE COMMISSION: 13 

Good morning everyone, Edith Farah-Elassal for the 14 

Commission. 15 

THE COMMISSIONER: 16 

Welcome Me Elassal. 17 

Me MAXIME LAGANIÈRE, 18 

PROCUREUR POUR LE DPCP: 19 

Good morning everyone, Maxime Laganière pour le 20 

Directeur des poursuites criminelles et pénales. 21 

THE COMMISSIONER: 22 

Welcome Me Laganière.   23 

Me MARIE-PAULE BOUCHER, 24 

POUR LA PROCUREURE GÉNÉRALE DU QUÉBEC :  25 
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Good morning, Marie-Paule Boucher pour la 1 

Procureure générale du Québec. 2 

THE COMMISSIONER: 3 

Welcome Me Boucher. 4 

Me DENISE ROBILLARD 5 

POUR LA PROCUREUR GÉNÉRALE DU QUÉBEC: 6 

Good morning, Denise Robillard pour la Procureure 7 

générale du Québec.   8 

THE COMMISSIONER: 9 

Welcome Me Robillard. 10 

THE COMMISSIONER: 11 

Now, Me Elassal, you will explain us the program of 12 

the day? 13 

Me Édith-Farah Elassal: 14 

Yes Mr.  the Commissioner.  This morning, we’ll 15 

start with a representative from Minnie’s Hope 16 

Center.  At ten (10:00) this morning, we’re going to 17 

have people from different Justice Committees from 18 

Aupaluk, Kuujjuarapik and Inukjuaq.  After lunch, 19 

we’re going to have citizen, closed hearing for 20 

youth protection.  At two-thirty (2:30), we’re going 21 

to fill in some declaration we got from citizen here 22 

in Nunavik, and then we’re going to have the closing 23 

ceremony at three (3:00) this afternoon. 24 

THE COMMISSIONER: 25 
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Hm Hmm.  I understand that concerning the 1 

declaration will be... which will be deposited, it’s 2 

only part of them.  Others will be deposited later 3 

on. 4 

Me Édith-Farah Elassal: 5 

Exactly.  Roughly, we’ll deposit from forty (40) 6 

declarations or so.  Yep.  Maybe I could ask you 7 

to... regarding the closed hearing at one thirty 8 

(1:30), if you could order a closed hearing, because 9 

it’s youth protection services that will be 10 

discussed by a citizen, and if you accept it, it 11 

will be HC-81. 12 

THE COMMISSIONER: 13 

Okay.  So, according to the law, when somebody 14 

testifies concerning youth protection, I don’t even 15 

have the choice.  It has to be behind closed doors. 16 

So, I will order that the testimony rendered 17 

at one thirty (1:30) by witness, (who) will testify 18 

concerning youth protection, be behind closed 19 

doors.  So it will be forbidden to let anybody know 20 

concerning the facts, the persons involved, they 21 

have to be protected.  We have to protect their 22 

identity according to the law.  So, it will be HC 23 

– “huis clos”, French for “closed doors” - number 24 

81. 25 
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Me Édith-Farah Elassal: 1 

Exactly, yes.  So, maybe we could start by 2 

presenting the people we are lucky to have with us 3 

this morning.  As I said, we have representatives 4 

from Minnie’s Hope Center, which is here in 5 

Kuujjuarapik.  Minnie’s Hope Center offers notably 6 

social and pediatric services to children of 7 

Kuujjuarapik and Whapmagoostui.  And along with us 8 

this morning, we do have on my right Mrs. Winnie 9 

Mikeyook, who’s a board member of Minnie’s Hope. 10 

We have also Judy Tookalook, who is an 11 

educator.  In the middle we have Marianne Martin, 12 

the Director of the center, along with Dr. Johanne 13 

Morel, who is a pediatrician. 14 

We also have Pasha Abraham, a special educator 15 

at Awash Estchees Cree Daycare, Martine 16 

Constantineau, local director by interim at the 17 

CLSC of Whapmagoostui. 18 

And finally we have Nathalie Esperon, mother 19 

and user of the center.  So welcome, welcome all.  20 

Before we start with the presentation that you 21 

prepared for us, I would ask the clerk to swear you 22 

in on the Bible. 23 

---------- 24 

 25 
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Winnie Mickeyook 1 

Board member 2 

Assermentée 3 

---------- 4 

Judy Tookalook 5 
Educator 6 

Assermentée 7 

---------- 8 

Marianne Martin 9 

Director 10 
Assermentée 11 

---------- 12 

Dr Johanne Morel 13 

Pediatrician 14 
Assermentée 15 

---------- 16 

Pasha Abraham 17 
Special educator at Awash educator (Cree Day Care) 18 
Assermentée 19 

---------- 20 

Martine Constantineau 21 
Local director by interim at the CLSC of Whapmagoostui 22 
Assermentée 23 

----------  24 

Nathalie Esperon 25 
Mother and User 26 

Assermentation sur la bible 27 

----------  28 

THE COMMISSIONER: 29 

Welcome.  I’m honored to receive you at hearing 30 

Commission.  We’ll listen with good care.  I think 31 

it’s important what you’re doing.  Me Ellassal,... 32 

Me Édith-Farah Elassal: 33 

Yes. 34 
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THE COMMISSIONER: 1 

... your witnesses. 2 

Me Édith-Farah Elassal: 3 

Yes.  As I said, you have a presentation, I think 4 

you have things you want to talk about regarding 5 

your center, so if that’s okay with you, I would 6 

just let you go on with the presentation. 7 

JOHANNE MOREL: 8 

I’m going to start.  Thank you.  We want to start 9 

Minnie’s Hope and I would like to start by thanking 10 

the Commission for inviting us to share our 11 

initiative with you.  Here is the plan of our 12 

presentation. 13 

So we’ll start with the context of how 14 

Minnie’s Hope came to exist.  Then we will give you 15 

more information as to what the center is about, and 16 

then we will have some testimony of a board member 17 

of the Board of Director, from an educator clinical 18 

assistant, who works at Minnie’s Hope, of a 19 

community partner, who often join at the center, of 20 

an organisational partner, who also happens to be a 21 

board member and finally, last but not least 22 

important, comments from a parent who uses the 23 

center, and we will conclude. 24 

The James Bay agreement signed in 1975 between 25 
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the Cree and Inuit people and the Quebec government 1 

led to the creation of regional boards of health 2 

and social services in Nunavik and Eeyou Istchee. 3 

There are since been an explosion of 4 

healthcare and social services available locally, 5 

mostly delivered by Southern professionals who have 6 

come North to work in the communities with Cree and 7 

Inuit people.  Over the years, we, healthcare 8 

professionals, have witnessed our numbers increase 9 

rapidly and a variety of services offered locally 10 

multiplied. 11 

I remember the days when we were six (6) 12 

general practitioners to cover the then eight (7) 13 

Cree communities.  The Cree Health Board now hires 14 

over fifty (50) physicians. 15 

At the same time though, we have come to 16 

realize that the medicine that we have studied and 17 

that we offer does not always have the expected 18 

benefits.  The proof being that health statistics 19 

are often not following Southern trends.  20 

Improvements in life expectancy, in raise of infant 21 

mortality, in rise of suicide, lied often far 22 

behind what is observed in the rest of the 23 

population. 24 

Which reminds me of the Avignon bridge.  A 25 
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lovely bridge.  Built in the Middle Ages in the 1 

South of France.  There was clearly an investment, 2 

a significant investment of time, of energy, of 3 

planning, of financial resources to conceptualize 4 

and then create the bridge.  Architects, engineers, 5 

masons, people with all kind of skills in bridge 6 

building were committed to the building of the 7 

lovely Avignon bridge. 8 

But there’s a major problem with the bridge. 9 

It does not cross the river.  It fails to fulfill 10 

the only reason for which all this energy was to be 11 

spent, and I often think that the health care that 12 

we are offering to the people of the North is a 13 

very narrow bridge.  Energy, commitment, financial 14 

funds are generously invested, but with a modest 15 

return.  Aw, we succeed nicely in emergency care, 16 

intravenous antibiotics, air ambulances, surgery, 17 

safe lives, no doubt, this is clear success.  But 18 

still, our impact on return otitis, baby bottle 19 

syndrome, prevention of sudden infant death 20 

syndrome, suicide rates, type 2 diabetes, among 21 

many other issues, is far from spectacular.  We 22 

need to keep on improving our bridge.  Our bridge 23 

is way too frail and not carrying enough weight. 24 

We sometimes hear that there’s a need for more 25 
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professionals.  Maybe.  But which ones? 1 

In twenty eleven (2011), there were thirty-2 

seven (37) physicians per ten thousand (10,000) 3 

inhabitants in Nunavik for ten (10) in the South.  4 

And a hundred and twenty (120) full time equivalent 5 

nurses for fifty-five (55) in the South.  And I 6 

know, I know that, most of the professionals who 7 

come North are dedicated.  They really care about 8 

the work... the care... about the work they do.  9 

They want to help.  This is in the nature of the 10 

healing professions, whether it be medicine, 11 

nursing or social work.  So, why isn’t all this 12 

working better?  I would like to present five 13 

possible interconnected explanations: 14 

- Poor understanding of the cultural difference by 15 

Southern workers; 16 

- Cultural Safety; 17 

- The complexity of issues; 18 

- Southern like hieratical institutional 19 

environment; and 20 

- The fact that people work in [silos]. 21 

The first hypothesis relates to the cultural 22 

difference.  Or even more specifically to our 23 

ignorance of our own ignorance in matters of 24 

culture, of the cultural divide.  Most of us, 25 



VOLUME 161 WINNIE MICKEYOOK, JUDY TOOKALOOK, 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 MARIANNE MARTIN, JOHANNE MOREL, 

 PASHA ABRAHAM, MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU ET NATHALIE ESPERON 

- 14 - 

health care professionals, grew up within the 1 

occidental culture, and we get our cultural root 2 

from it.  That’s what we’re familiar with.  It’s 3 

our world.  But it’s a real challenge of being 4 

aware even of our own culture, this is just how we 5 

do things. 6 

One way to learn about our own culture is to 7 

be confronted to the culture of others.  To other 8 

ways of thinking and of doing things.  Most of us 9 

have not received any training in anthropology and 10 

we’re really ignorant of the culture of others.  In 11 

fact, I believe that we’re not even aware of the 12 

magnitude of the cultural difference. 13 

Culture goes way... culture goes way deeper 14 

than the amauti or the [wastchuyan(ph)], and I can 15 

think of a few reasons for our lack of 16 

understanding; when is that we intervene in English 17 

in an occidental like clinic.  We feel at home, 18 

this is comfortable for health care workers. 19 

Another one is that I believe our stay up 20 

North are often very short and it does not live us 21 

enough time to learn about the culture of others.  22 

Because the culture of others does not happen in 23 

books.  The culture of cultural learning is slow, 24 

is gradual and it requires a degree of openness and 25 
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of destabilization. 1 

Cultural misunderstanding has an impact on our 2 

everyday professional encounters.  In medicine, our 3 

most important tools are words, not the 4 

stethoscope, not the EKG, and not the blood tests.  5 

Words.  Words that those of us who speak French 6 

translate into English here, first layer. 7 

But then... then words have their way of their 8 

own.  They are standout carrying an intended 9 

meaning that may not be received with that 10 

particular meaning.  I have no way of knowing if, 11 

right now, you understand what I’m trying to say in 12 

the words that I chose to express my thinking.  You 13 

may read in them a dimension that I had not 14 

intended, for whatever reason.  That is often the 15 

cause of misunderstanding. 16 

But then, as we’re from the same culture, in 17 

our global encounter with non-verbal cues, with 18 

questions, we can more easily communicate 19 

effectively.  Because culture adds another 20 

dimension and interferes in the transmission.  Non-21 

verbal cues, relationship hierarchy, and many other 22 

elements are not necessarily interpreted the way 23 

they were meant to be, and unfortunately, 24 

misunderstandings lead often to judgment. 25 
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So, in summary, I strongly believe that our 1 

ignorance of our own ignorance in matter of 2 

cultural differences has a huge impact on the 3 

health care we provide in the North. 4 

The second point I would like to bring was 5 

brought home some years ago by an Inuit Elder, 6 

Elashuk Pauyungie from Salluit, at the Quebec Inuit 7 

Mental Health Retreat.  This Elder gave sound advice 8 

to all the social workers and health care 9 

professional that day.  She said - I was there and I 10 

quote: 11 

“You know, all of you [Halounat(ph)], 12 

sitting here today, we Inuit, we know 13 

that we will have to work together for 14 

years to come.  But if you want that 15 

encounter, that relationship to be 16 

productive, you’ll have to listen to us.  17 

You’ll have to hear what we have to say.” 18 

  But, how do we do that.  How do we listen.  19 

Can we listen well in our English-speaking medical 20 

clinics?  We need to talk more about concept by 21 

cultural safety.  And we need to bring them to the 22 

fore.  Cultural safety is a fundamental concept to 23 

integrate, if we wish to be more successful in our 24 

encounters.   25 
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The third issue, I would like to present, 1 

would be the complexity of issues involved. 2 

Minnie’s clinical situations are compounded by 3 

underlying social situations that often make the 4 

medical intervention less fruitful.  I think here 5 

of issues such as household crowding.  Crowding can 6 

lead to stressful life situation, associated with 7 

lack of intimacy, with noise.  Crowding can lead to 8 

family violence or substance abuse and interfere 9 

with the treatment of completely unrelated medical 10 

condition.  But the issue of crowding rarely comes 11 

up in a standard medical encounter.  Did you give 12 

Johnny is antibiotic?  Nobody would answer “no, 13 

because my house is too crowded”.  But... often it 14 

has... it has a part, this is part of why 15 

treatments don’t happen.  Medical problems, I 16 

believe, are compounded by social stressors and 17 

those stressors render the interventions more 18 

challenging. 19 

The fourth issue relates the hierarchy 20 

associated with the traditional model of care, with 21 

the physician in charge, in an institutional like 22 

setting.  This model, of people talking about you 23 

without you, can be intimidating and not always as 24 

productive as hoped for. 25 
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Up North, services are usually delivered in 1 

CLSCs and hospitals, modelled on those existing in 2 

the South.  Services are usually delivered in 3 

English, the one common language spoken by both 4 

locals and Southern professionals.  A language that 5 

most native people of the North speak fluently. 6 

But most of us would rather speak our mother 7 

tongue when discussing our health and intimate 8 

details about our life.  It removes a layer of 9 

stress.  Talking in a second language when we’re 10 

not feeling well, when we’re worried, being in an 11 

institution based on Southern models, is an added 12 

struggle. 13 

And finally, we need to work in partnerships.  14 

There are multiple interesting initiatives that 15 

could be shared between several organizations.  We 16 

need to break silos, we need to work as teams, we 17 

need to integrate the work of schools and clinics 18 

and social workers and youth protection workers and 19 

daycares, in the best interest of the children we 20 

are here to help.  We all have some skills, but the 21 

combined expertise of many can be larger than the 22 

sum of each taken separately. 23 

That being said, medicine remains a very 24 

useful tool.  It is great to be close to the clinic 25 
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when there’s an emergency.  The clinic saves life.  1 

It does a wonderful work that needs to be 2 

acknowledged loud and clear.  But, maybe there’s 3 

room for a partner.  A partner with a different 4 

complementary approach.  Because maybe despite all 5 

the great services it offers, maybe the clinic as 6 

we know it today, might not be the ideal model to 7 

address health in its globality, here in the North. 8 

Native people view of health is global.  It 9 

encompasses the spiritual, emotional, social and 10 

physical components of an individual.   11 

What if we could dream a new concept, a new 12 

approach to non-urgent health care?  What if we 13 

just tried?  What would it be like?  Social 14 

pediatrics, the discipline that considers the child 15 

as a whole, fits the global view of health.  Its 16 

approach is inclusive.  It encompasses all aspects 17 

of a child’s life.  It tries to focus on the 18 

strength in presence, in order to work on the 19 

optimal development of a child and overcome 20 

challenges that could impair its realization.  It 21 

does so by mobilizing the resources of the 22 

community into actions, to support its children and 23 

families for the well-being of each and everyone.  24 

It does so by breaking silos and bringing around 25 
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the same table all with a vested interest in the 1 

child; physician and social worker at the very 2 

least, but also members of the extended family: 3 

youth protection workers, daycare educators, 4 

nurses, teachers. 5 

Social pediatric works upstream in prevention 6 

as upstream as possible.  Social pediatric wants to 7 

work with pregnant women, with infants, with 8 

preschoolers, to have an impact in twenty (20) 9 

years.  Because it has been demonstrated that funds 10 

invested at the youngest age in prevention, 11 

represents significant savings compared with the 12 

cost of lifelong needs in rehabilitation, mental 13 

health and social issues. 14 

Which brings me to Minnie’s Hope. 15 

Minnie’s Hope wishes to offer an approach 16 

based on the social pediatric model.  Its mission 17 

is to help each child of the community achieve 18 

his/her potential in spite of challenges, whether 19 

they’d be physical, emotional, developmental or 20 

physical.  And because Minnie’s Hope is in 21 

Kuujjuarapik, Whapmagoostui, it emphasizes the 22 

importance of a culturally safe intervention.  It 23 

does so by providing an alternative culturally 24 

attuned approach, complementary to the more 25 
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standard model of care delivered at the clinic.  In 1 

a homelike, comfortable, welcoming setting in a 2 

non-institutional intervention.  Holistic care in a 3 

context of a non-hierarchical, non-judgmental, 4 

inclusive relationship.  It offers a 5 

multidisciplinary team, with enough time, enough 6 

time to offer the possibility of exploring 7 

underlying issues.  The... the different levels of 8 

complexity associated with any situation.  A slower 9 

rhythm is necessary, as some situations just cannot 10 

be rushed. 11 

It offers a multidisciplinary team that 12 

reaches out to the community for support and brings 13 

to the table everyone with an interest in the 14 

child. 15 

Minnie’s Hope board of administrators is 16 

mostly Cree and Inuit.  Minnie’s Hope is inspired 17 

by the... by Dr. Julien’s model and it is 18 

recognized by the Fondation du Dr. Julien. 19 

The approach encourages partnerships and 20 

brings together all available resources for the 21 

benefit of the children.  Minnie’s Hope works in 22 

enlarging the range of the services offered, from 23 

regular activities, with different groups, to 24 

access the variety of specialists. 25 
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Minnie’s Hope relies heavily on the resource 1 

of the community.  Without this support, it can 2 

achieve little, and the community’s best asset is 3 

its people.  To be successful, a social pediatric 4 

center needs to mobilize the citizens of its 5 

community.  Many of them, anyone with a little 6 

time, a little bit of energy, some skills, is 7 

welcome.  It also needs to link the resources, to 8 

break the silos, to connect local leaders with 9 

experts, and when all the local resources are put 10 

together, they amount to a lot, and then, magic can 11 

happen.  Minnie’s Hope’s ready for that. 12 

I will now allow... let Marianne continue to 13 

present the Center in more details. 14 

MARIANNE MARTIN: 15 

These are some pictures of the inside of Minnie’s 16 

Hope and you’ll see the clinic area, where we 17 

actually have our social pediatric meetings, and 18 

I’ll go into this in more details as we go. 19 

There’s a playroom and there’s plenty of space 20 

to welcome the children. 21 

As Johanne said, we offer relationship based 22 

global approach.  More in line with to the 23 

traditional Cree or Inuit philosophy.  This is very 24 

important to us.  And we’re not there to replace 25 
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existing services but we’re there to complement 1 

existing services. 2 

Minnie’s Hope was started in two thousand 3 

fourteen (two thousand and fourteen (2014)) and it’s 4 

named to honor a late community member Minnie 5 

Natachequan, who, with her two sons, died tragically 6 

in a situation of family violence.  Her two sons 7 

were half Cree and half Inuk and her parents gave 8 

permission to honor her and her love of children and 9 

her life.  So Minnie’s Hope, that’s where the name 10 

is from. 11 

We are registered non-profit organization.  12 

We’re supported by a Board of Directors, as Johanne 13 

said, Inuit, Cree and non-native.   14 

These are some of the programs of Minnie’s 15 

Hope is presently offering.  We’re budget specific 16 

program specific, so we reach out to different 17 

organizations for budgets to do specific programs. 18 

The goal is always the same: to help each 19 

child reach their full potential, regardless of 20 

challenges.  So right now - and I’ll go a bit more -21 

we’re doing the “Head Start Program”.  Generally, in 22 

the Cree communities, this is ran through the 23 

daycares.  However, in Whapmag’s do its ran through 24 

the Minnie’s Hope center.  And the target of that 25 
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group is zero (0) to five (5) prenatal, postnatal 1 

and families. 2 

The Mamu project is zero (0) to five (5) 3 

postnatal... prenatal and postnatal as well. 4 

The Honoluk program is Inuit KRG and Makivik 5 

funded, to help eight (8) to twelve (12) year-olds 6 

in an after school program.  And then the social 7 

pediatric programs that Johanne so nicely described. 8 

Our current activities.  Prenatal, postnatal 9 

groups, which covers all the... the social peds, the 10 

Head Start and the Mamu projects. 11 

We support... the preventivist support parents 12 

and young children with education.  We build trust 13 

and help develop confidence.  So those young 14 

parents can go on to be... have good education and 15 

good support to pass on to their children and 16 

contribute to the overall development. 17 

Our programs are designed to be innovated, 18 

designed to ensure that there is a continuity of 19 

service and that they are sustainable over the long 20 

run and that they’re culturally appropriate.  And 21 

this is why it is so important to us at Minnie’s 22 

Hope, that our board is representative of all of 23 

the community’s center, educators our 24 

representative of both communities, and that they 25 
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will lead us and guide us in the way to go forward. 1 

The therapeutic activities, or the social 2 

pediatric clinic. 3 

We can make referrals for evaluations in 4 

speech therapy, occupational therapy and 5 

developmental pediatrics. 6 

We do a one on one stimulation group for 7 

children who have a hard time, if they’re that zero 8 

(0) to five (5) age group but they can’t adjust to 9 

a group, but yet they need stimulation whether it’s 10 

with speech, whether it’s for physical stimulation.  11 

We can help them. 12 

We also have a sand play therapist, coming 13 

every six (6) weeks; as long as our budget  will 14 

continue, so that we can offer those services as 15 

well.   16 

We also support mom’s and dad’s who have 17 

children in placement, by facilitating visits and 18 

helping them to feel comfortable in nurturing that 19 

bond that is present. 20 

I’ll go into a bit more about the Head Start 21 

Program and just some of the activities that we do 22 

at that. 23 

The Head Start, as I said, is an incentive 24 

funded through the Cree Nation government, 25 
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ultimately the federal government, and we do a 1 

stimulation group for three (3) to five (5) year-2 

olds, twice a week, and our average group can go 3 

anywhere from six (6) to sixteen (16) children, and 4 

these are for children who are not in school or not 5 

in daycare.  So, we’re providing that extra 6 

stimulation; it includes transportation to 7 

[informal] activity and everything is free and 8 

registered participants are encouraged to come and 9 

the parents are supportive. 10 

We do some special activities from time to 11 

time, where we invite the parents and the extended 12 

family as well. 13 

As part of the school... as part of the Head 14 

Start, we also do a school readiness summer camp, 15 

for children who are getting ready to enter into 16 

school.  On the Cree side, there is preschool, so 17 

we have children who are four (4) years-old and on 18 

Inuit side there’s kindergarten so it’s five (5) 19 

years-olds.  So, it’s a three(3)-week summer camp 20 

with activities aimed at stimulating, learning 21 

concepts providing some structure and getting them 22 

ready for school. 23 

We... the feedback we’ve had is that it’s 24 

being helpful and that the children entering school 25 
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are more secure and confident. 1 

All of our programs have a component of 2 

cultural awareness.  One of the things that we do 3 

under Head Start, but it’s also under social 4 

pediatrics, is a Walking Out ceremony for... 5 

small... it’s a right of passage for Cree children 6 

or children that are invited to participate. 7 

We also do berry picking, Labrador Tea 8 

picking, try always to incorporate culture, and we 9 

listen to the Elders into our board members for 10 

activities that they’ll help us decide. 11 

This is our... the children whom participated 12 

in the last Walking Out ceremony on June 21st.  13 

There were eight (8) children and their families 14 

and it is an honor to be able to offer this at 15 

sunrise, five o’clock (05:00) in the morning, and 16 

to do the... all of the activities and the feast 17 

afterwards. 18 

In the social pediatrics, part of our program, 19 

currently we’re following over a hundred and forty 20 

(140) children and their families.  Although we 21 

started in two thousand fourteen (2014), we’ve had 22 

an explosion really since two thousand sixteen 23 

(2016), where we’ve just taken off; families are 24 

hearing about the services that we offer and it 25 
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really is word of mouth.  Professionals are more 1 

familiar with us and feel that, this environment 2 

may meet the needs of some of those... those 3 

children and families that they haven’t been able 4 

to reach.  And we’ve been successful.  The numbers 5 

speak to themselves.  Where we’ve got children 6 

coming back. 7 

We stress in our center that it is non-8 

judgmental.  We know the complexity of the social 9 

situation that people are living in the North and 10 

in particular in this community as well, in these 11 

two communities.  So we’re welcoming and it’s 12 

important that is a warm welcoming and that we 13 

assure people that it is a non-judgmental 14 

environment.  We stress that everyone is at the 15 

same level on the table.  No one is up here, no one 16 

is down there, and the child and the parents are 17 

the experts.  They’re the ones that are bringing 18 

the information and helping us to help them. 19 

Our core team is made up of the pediatrician, 20 

of myself, I am the Director but I’m also... I say 21 

an HRA, which is a Human Relations Agent, as 22 

opposed to... in a normal social pediatric center 23 

would be a social worker, but my degree is not in 24 

social work, but I do have acquired rights, under 25 
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or the order of social work, because of my past 1 

activities.  So this is why I am an HRA.  But that 2 

social component is very important and.. with the 3 

pediatrician or the medical component. 4 

And then we have the educator and the clinical 5 

assistant.  And if the family is Inuit, then it’s 6 

the Inuk clinical assistant educator.  If they’re 7 

Cree, then it’s the Cree clinical assistant. 8 

If it’s a mixed family, then it’s both.  So we 9 

can be four in the core team and then we would 10 

invite whom ever else can contribute to the 11 

conversation, but with the permission of the 12 

parents.  We check with them first.  If it’s a 13 

situation of things are not going well at school or 14 

there’s challenges, we’re not going to surprise the 15 

parents by having the teacher there.  We’re going 16 

to ask the parents if they’re comfortable and can 17 

we invite the teacher to participate. 18 

But we also encourage the parents to bring 19 

grand-ma, to bring auntie.  If they feel they like 20 

someone else to be with them, they’re encouraged to 21 

bring them.  Anyone that can contribute to this 22 

conversation.  And we follow the Gilles Julien 23 

model, of social pediatrics, and the IDA, which is 24 

establishing the relationship first.  Taking the 25 
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time to get to know each other, exchanging 1 

information and then decoding that information.  2 

What might it mean?  What the people feel their 3 

interpretation is.  And then, all together, we 4 

establish an action plan.  It isn’t someone that 5 

walks off and says, okay, we’ve decided this is 6 

what you’ll do.  No.  We do it all together. 7 

And our current core team is myself, our 8 

clinical assistant educators, and as we said, the 9 

pediatrician, Johanne Morel, who comes nine... nine 10 

(9) weeks a year.  We have an adolescent 11 

pediatrician as well, coming four (4) weeks a year, 12 

and soon we’ll have a family physician that will 13 

join us for five (5) weeks a year. 14 

So we have a total presence of the 15 

pediatrician or family physician for eighteen (18) 16 

weeks each year.  That we’re doing the specific 17 

social pediatric clinic, but then the work 18 

continues even when they’re not there. 19 

Our complimentary services.  Services that we 20 

arrange or that are available to us, through the 21 

different organizations. 22 

The sand play therapist that’s coming 23 

regularly now, as long as budget permit. 24 

Speech therapist.  There is a speech therapist 25 
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on the Cree Health Board and there is a speech 1 

therapist for school age children on the... 2 

Kativik. 3 

And we have... so basically it’s only three 4 

(3) visits a year.  And there’s a big need in 5 

speech pathology. 6 

Occupational therapist from the Cree Health 7 

Board and Inuulits and the Nunavik Health Board as 8 

well, and we also have a developmental pediatrician 9 

that comes once a year, just for Minnie’s Hope 10 

clients, and contributes her time to the clients 11 

that we identify, so that she can help them as well 12 

and give us and participate with the educators to 13 

come up with an intervention plan for these 14 

children. 15 

These are activities that we’d like to 16 

develop: after school programs for children at 17 

risk.  We still have a lot of work to do.  We’re 18 

developing and always creating and always listening 19 

to what people in the community would like us to 20 

develop.  So we would like to develop that, for 21 

children of at-risk families. 22 

We’d like to work closely with the DYP and 23 

work more closely with those clients who are at 24 

risk, including a Baby Kangaroo Program, which is a 25 
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tripartite agreement between Youth Protection, 1 

Minnie’s Hope and the parents, so that it could 2 

prevent placement of a baby.  Because parents would 3 

have the support and regular intervention of 4 

Minnie’s Hope Center and come to the Center as 5 

often as needed, but at least four (4) half (1/2) 6 

days a week. 7 

We’d also like to develop more land based 8 

healing activities and we’d like to reach out to 9 

art therapy, music therapy.  Those type of therapy 10 

and particularly that don’t involve words, so that 11 

clients can have support without having to express 12 

it through a language that may not be comfortable 13 

to them. 14 

And there are several people, as Johanne said, 15 

in our model it’s community driven, it’s regional 16 

services as well, so we need to partner with all of 17 

those... people that are present, people in the 18 

South, the schools, the daycares, the justice, 19 

the... we already do with... with Gilles Julien 20 

Foundation, the Cree Health Board, we have an 21 

agreement with... with them, so, local 22 

organizations as well.  We have a lot of work to do 23 

but we’re doing it.  It’s a process. 24 

All of us are striving to offer good services 25 
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to children.  Everyone has the same goal.  The 1 

children are the gas of the vehicle.  They’re what 2 

make us go, the smiles, the twinkle in their eye, 3 

the excitement as they come to this... the door at 4 

Minnie’s Hope.  They’re the gas.  And the community 5 

is the driver of this vehicle, to help everyone get 6 

on board, so that we can end up in a good place 7 

with these children and help them to be strong and 8 

to reach their potential, but always in a 9 

culturally safe environment. 10 

Our strengths.  Minnie’s Hope team. 11 

We are a diverse multidisciplinary team: Inuk, 12 

Cree, non-native, [anglophones].  We have all walks 13 

of life.  We bring it all together.  We have sought 14 

strong support from the Cree Band, we have strong 15 

support from the Cree Health Board, strong support 16 

from Head Start, from Makivik, Care (inaudible) 17 

with the Homoluk program in the funding there.  Our 18 

board is mostly Cree and Inuit.  Our educators are 19 

local educators. 20 

Myself, I’ve had the privilege and honor of 21 

leaving in this community for over thirty-four (34) 22 

years.  I have a... an awareness of the 23 

complexities on a deeper level.  And when someone 24 

tells me that, as we’re sitting in the clinic, that 25 
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so and so is related to so and so, and so and so, 1 

to help understand the big picture, I get it. I’ve 2 

seen it. 3 

When they talk of tragedies that have happened 4 

twenty (20) years ago and the impact, I get it. 5 

I’ve been here. 6 

So, we all bring a special awareness to our 7 

table.  We are also recognized by the Foundation of 8 

Gilles Julien.  We have access to training and 9 

support through his Foundation. 10 

Going forward.  We hope to continue our 11 

programs, we hope to be sustainable, we hope to... 12 

well, we will remain independent and community 13 

driven.  We hope to be able to offer our model to 14 

other Cree and Inuit communities.   15 

Me EDITH FARAH-ELASSAL: 16 

I’m... I’m sorry to interrupt.  Just... for the 17 

interpreter to... slow down a bit, to help the 18 

interpretation.  I’m sorry to interrupt. 19 

THE COMMISSIONER: 20 

We have different person in Inuktitut and also in 21 

French. 22 

MARIANNE MARTIN: 23 

No problem.   24 

Me EDITH FARAH-ELASSAL: 25 



VOLUME 161 WINNIE MICKEYOOK, JUDY TOOKALOOK, 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 MARIANNE MARTIN, JOHANNE MOREL, 

 PASHA ABRAHAM, MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU ET NATHALIE ESPERON 

- 35 - 

Thank you.  I’m sorry. 1 

THE COMMISSIONER: 2 

Both of them. 3 

MARIANNE MARTIN: 4 

So, we also hope to become a mentor center, to be 5 

able to offer guidance to other centers who are 6 

thinking of starting in other Northern centers or 7 

aboriginal centers across Canada.  We’re there for 8 

them to share our learning journey. 9 

Challenges. 10 

Our budget is program specific and changes 11 

according to whatever program that we’re offering.  12 

We’re far, we have no access by road, 13 

professionals and materials need to be flown in, 14 

which increase our costs. 15 

We work always in a transcultural context.  We 16 

need to... professionals that come in, aside from 17 

Johanne, take training to help them to understand 18 

our context and how we work.  It seems there are 19 

very few volunteers.  Everyone is living a very 20 

busy lifestyle, have a lot of challenges, and few 21 

people have time to give that extra time to help 22 

with program or evening activities. 23 

There are also very limited community 24 

resources available to us.  So, our team is 25 
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creative.  If we need something, we try to develop 1 

it.  We try to make (inaudible) with what we have 2 

and we try to look for that resource in other ways.   3 

I’d like any of... to invite any of you to 4 

come and visit our center.  You’re always welcome.  5 

Our doors are always opened.  We always have 6 

Labrador Tea, ready and available, please do. 7 

Thank you for your time and I’ll pass this on 8 

to... to Winnie as a board member. 9 

THE COMMISSIONER: 10 

Thank you.  Winnie, we are listening to you. 11 

WINNIE MICKEYOOK: 12 

I turn this on?  Good morning.  Thank you for 13 

having us here.  I’m really happy to be here as a 14 

board member for the Minnie’s Hope Center. 15 

Since I started, I was asked by Johanne if I 16 

could become one of the board members to go as a 17 

voluntary board member.  I graciously accepted 18 

cause I know it’s... important that we have a 19 

place, in our community, where people can come in, 20 

you know.  The doors are opened for them, it’s an 21 

important center to have.  It’s one of its kind in 22 

North.  Hopefully, other communities will follow 23 

with our example of how we’ve been since we’re 24 

started, cause this amazing vehicle of... (crying) 25 



VOLUME 161 WINNIE MICKEYOOK, JUDY TOOKALOOK, 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 MARIANNE MARTIN, JOHANNE MOREL, 

 PASHA ABRAHAM, MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU ET NATHALIE ESPERON 

- 37 - 

You know, I see the struggles of our 1 

community, not just the Inuit but, on the Cree side 2 

too, and we’re not unique when everybody all over 3 

Nunavik has that problem.  So just imagine if we 4 

have this, you know, we can present it to the other 5 

communities and tell them this is what we’re doing 6 

to help our children. 7 

I’m from this community, I grew up here, and, 8 

like anybody else, you know, I went through my 9 

struggles growing up, but I had an opportunity to 10 

get out of my community and see, you know, there’s 11 

so much more than pain and struggle and despair. 12 

And with this Minnie’s Hope Center, you know, we’re 13 

trying to give that, you know... our children, the 14 

hope that we... you know, there’s other way of 15 

living.  The children are our future.  We always 16 

say that, you know.  I always hear that from Inuit 17 

leaders and yet, they don’t really follow through. 18 

So with this Center, you know, I hope it’ll 19 

open the doors for them to see that children are 20 

the future.  And with this Center, for being 21 

non-profit, for being community driven, cultural 22 

driven, culturally sensitive, you know, it’s an 23 

important boat for us, if you can say, you know, 24 

our vehicle to move forward. 25 
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I’ve seen what it could do and what’s it’s 1 

doing and I know, like... us, Inuit, you know, it’s 2 

hard to reach out for help, cause, you know, you’re 3 

afraid that somebody’s gonna say this and this are 4 

going there or, they’re having problems, so... 5 

at...  So with this Center, it’s... it’s to help 6 

the family and feel, like, you know, I’m not the 7 

only one with the problem. 8 

A door is open, everybody’s welcome and I 9 

totally believe in this, cause I’ve seen how it’s 10 

been.  It’s a place where a family can come in and 11 

they’re not being judged for having a problem or, 12 

you know, cause, like I said, it’s not easy trying 13 

to reach out the help.  But when I started, I knew 14 

that, you know, that I had to take hundred per cent 15 

to be involved and that’s what I’ve been trying to 16 

do.  And will try anything to get the Center going. 17 

And if we can take care of the children who need 18 

help, even if we reach one child, I’m satisfied. 19 

But there’s room to make the way for the other 20 

children and that’s where, you know, each person, 21 

we have that team where it’s possible.  And I think 22 

that it’s important to work with the Inuit and the 23 

Cree as a whole, as a community, and... this is a 24 

unique community, cause it’s Inuit and Cree.  We’ve 25 
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always had harmonious relationship with them, the 1 

Cree side, but sometimes there’s struggles, but 2 

we’ve kept going, you know, we’re doing good as a 3 

community, and I’m... I’m really happy to be part 4 

of this hope, Minnie’s Hope. 5 

Now, we... we are doing something good and I 6 

believe we... we will reach what we’ve been trying 7 

and, with this group, it’s possible and, we have 8 

dedicated people and I’m really happy, like Johanne 9 

is here, since the beginning.  Marianne.  And then 10 

we have our educators. 11 

They come here, they go there and they’re part 12 

of the process, and when I talk about a process, it 13 

takes time.  If we have these groups, you know, 14 

they’re going through this, and we’re giving hope 15 

for them, cause process takes time and we need 16 

people... we have the people that will help 17 

transform these children for a better... place, and 18 

have a safety place, where they can express...  19 

Cause sometimes, when you have a background where 20 

there’s drugs and alcohol, you don’t have a safe 21 

place.  But with this Minnie’s Hope, you know, 22 

we’re trying to have a safe place for them, which 23 

is really important for our child to grow and...  24 

And it’s a non-profit, you know, we try to get 25 
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fundings from other places, we need to do more on 1 

the Inuit side, cause the Cree side, they really 2 

helped us along the way, but we keep going and I’ll 3 

make sure that we will, as an Inuk, cause I grew up 4 

in this community and I’ve struggled growing up 5 

with alcohol with my parents, so I know the 6 

importance of how a child is affected by it and 7 

it’s... it’s what Johanne was talking about, 8 

physical, mental, mental and spiritual, it’s not 9 

just one area it’s as a whole, and it’s... like I 10 

said, I’m just happy to be here and express what 11 

I’ve seen and what we could do and what we need to 12 

continue. 13 

Thank you for having us here and I wanted to 14 

say more but I’m very... emotional, but... that’s 15 

all I wanted to share.  Thank you for having us. 16 

THE COMMISSIONER: 17 

 Thank you for sharing with us.  Who’s next? 18 

JUDY TOOKALOOK: 19 

Hi. 20 

THE COMMISSIONER: 21 

Hi.  It’s okay. 22 

JUDY TOOKALOOK:  23 

Good? I’m sorry. 24 

THE COMMISSIONER: 25 
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OK. 1 

JUDY TOOKALOOK: 2 

I’m an educator at Minnie’s Hope Center.  I’m gonna 3 

speak in English and some in Inuktitut if that’s 4 

okay. 5 

And, what I do at the Minnie’s Hope is, I am 6 

the educator/clinical assistant.  When I’m the 7 

educator, we do the play groups, which is three (3) 8 

to five (5) years-old, and they... like I make... we 9 

usually make the plans, and they have daily 10 

routines, so they do a circle, singing, books, 11 

physical activities, and, after that, we go have 12 

snacks, and they have like, fine motor activities. 13 

It’s similar like daycare, and for them to 14 

focus... I mean, these are the kids that don’t 15 

attend daycare so, it’ll be easy on them when they 16 

go to the school.  And, the activities that I 17 

usually plan is... are in Inuktitut, so... and we 18 

have Cree educator, so we can combine them and... – 19 

where was I. 20 

It’s really nice to see the kids (that) don’t 21 

attend daycare coming to the play group and... and 22 

for them to... – ah no.  (getting emotional) Sorry.  23 

Okay.  (Now in Inuktitut) 24 

Alors les enfants avec lesquels nous 25 
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travaillons, les enfants cris et inuits, lorsque 1 

nous les combinons ensembles, ils deviennent des 2 

amis.  Ils ne se voient pas comme...  Je suis fière 3 

de cela parce qu’ils peuvent vivre ensemble.  Summer 4 

camp in... (inaudible) can do three weeks.  I am an 5 

educator there in Inuktitut, I’m...  6 

Les éducatrices cries et inuites, moi-même, on 7 

faisait une rotation, alors moi je parlais en 8 

Inuktitut et ensuite l’éducatrice crie parlait... 9 

et lorsqu’on se comprenait pas, on parlait en 10 

anglais pour communiquer.  Alors je suis vraiment 11 

fière de cela, de pouvoir faire cela.  Nakurmiik. 12 

THE COMMISSIONER: 13 

 Nakurmiik. 14 

MARIANNE MARTIN : 15 

 Nakurmiik. 16 

PASHA ABRAHAM: 17 

Hi. 18 

THE COMMISSIONER: 19 

Hi. 20 

PASHA ABRAHAM: 21 

I work at the daycare at Awasisti Childcare Center. 22 

I’m the special needs educator.  My role, as a 23 

special need educator, I do one on one with 24 

children that have delays or that need a boost.  25 
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That’s where I meet with Dr. Morel and Minnie’s 1 

Hope team, to focus on a specific child based on 2 

their need, and we also meet with the parents.  And 3 

when we meet together, we see the child strength 4 

and the weakness and, based on what delays that 5 

they might have, we work on those delays. 6 

For an example, like a speech delay.  If a 7 

child have a speech delay, I work one on one 8 

with... based on their intervention plan, I work 9 

like, giving them language stimulation, and we use 10 

like, books or toys and... my role, as a special 11 

needs educator, I think is really important for the 12 

child and I’m really glad that I work with Minnie’s 13 

Hope and, it gives the child the full potential or 14 

a full potential, what he or she may become one 15 

they grow up.  And I’m really thankful for 16 

everybody to work... to work together and...  I 17 

think that’s all.  Yeah.  Thank you. 18 

THE COMMISSIONER: 19 

Thank you.  Miigwetch. 20 

MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU: 21 

Bonjour.  J’ai choisi de faire la présentation ce 22 

matin en français, un petit peu avec les nuances 23 

que Dr. Morel elle a parlé un petit peu plus tôt.  24 

C’est pour bien choisir peut-être les bons mots, 25 
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les bons termes, pour mieux m’exprimer. 1 

Pour vous faire une histoire courte, dans...  2 

quand j’ai commencé à travailler ici au début des 3 

années deux mille dix (2010), Dr Morel elle nous 4 

parlait de... d’un projet, un projet de pédiatrie 5 

social.  Tranquillement, elle tâtait le terrain à 6 

la clinique avec les infirmières, avec les médecins 7 

puis... en partant, on a trouvé que l’idée était 8 

bonne, on voulait embarquer, ne sachant pas que 9 

quelques années... 10 

THE COMMISSIONER : 11 

En allant pas trop vite et en laissant le temps 12 

peut-être un peu à des gens qui vont aller chercher 13 

les... des objets pour avoir la traduction. 14 

THE CLERK: 15 

And if I may, if you wish to listen to what she’s 16 

saying in English, that would be channel number 2, 17 

Inuktitut is 3, so just so you know. 18 

MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU: 19 

Fait que, ne sachant pas que le projet deviendrait 20 

le projet de deux communautés, basé sur le besoin 21 

des enfants, des familles, et surtout que le Cree 22 

Health Board serait un partenaire important.  Nous 23 

avons préparé des rencontres, des rencontres 24 

multidisciplinaires, hein, avec les différents 25 
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intervenants, puis ça a pas toujours été facile 1 

puis oui, on a rencontré des embuches.  Avec les 2 

efforts, on a réussi à convaincre une organisation 3 

complète à embarquer, autant au niveau local qu’au 4 

niveau régional. 5 

Puis, dans les premières années du programme, 6 

il y a beaucoup de gens qui ont participé sur une 7 

base volontaire.  On se rappelle, après les heures 8 

de travail les infirmières s’investissaient, pour 9 

démontrer l’importance de... de participer à ce 10 

projet commun. 11 

En tant que représentante du CLSC de 12 

Whapmagoostui, je crois que les deux centres ont 13 

des volontés communes et c’est d’offrir une qualité 14 

de services, mais surtout un choix, pour des 15 

enfants, des parents et des familles. 16 

Dans la dernière année, le Cree Health Board 17 

est fier d’avoir signé une entente d’engagement 18 

avec le centre de pédiatrie sociale Minnie’s Hope 19 

Center.  Nous sommes... nous sommes en mesure 20 

d’offrir... 21 

THE COMMISSIONER : 22 

Un peu plus lentement s’il vous plaît. 23 

MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU: 24 

I need to slow down a little bit. 25 
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THE COMMISSIONER: 1 

Nos traducteurs doivent le faire en anglais et 2 

ensuite en Inuktitut. 3 

MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU : 4 

Finalement, j’aurais dû le faire en anglais. 5 

THE COMMISSIONER: 6 

Non.  Ça va.  Ça va. 7 

MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU : 8 

Fait que nous sommes en mesure d’offrir des 9 

services complémentaires.  On peut... on a un prêt 10 

de services avec différents travailleurs de 11 

l’équipe... c’est sûr, c’est toujours basé sur la 12 

disponibilité, la rétention du personnel, le 13 

recrutement c’est un défi pour nous aussi.  Et nous 14 

sommes en mesure de soutenir l’organisation avec 15 

des billets d’avion, avec un logement quand leurs 16 

différents travailleurs viennent dans la 17 

communauté.  Et, il y a de l’équipement médical qui 18 

devrait arriver sous peu, c’est toujours un défi de 19 

transport et de temps pour les recevoir. 20 

Les expertises et les forces de chacun de nos 21 

organisations ont permis d’offrir des services 22 

complémentaires.  Cela est possible d’offrir des 23 

services en partageant l’information, toujours avec 24 

l’accord des parents, dans l’intérêt des enfants. 25 
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Et une bonne gestion des compétences 1 

professionnelles, en unissant nos forces, nous 2 

sommes capables d’offrir des services variés 3 

différents, oui, mais surtout chaleureux et 4 

accueillants, et surtout, du temps pour rencontrer 5 

ces familles. 6 

Nos forces combinées ensemble nous permettent 7 

de pallier à nos faiblesses, soit un manque de 8 

ressources humaines, de... un manque financier et 9 

de logements dans la communauté.  Pour reprendre 10 

les mots de Winnie tantôt, nous offrons de l’espoir 11 

aux enfants, aux familles, mais nous offrons un 12 

support aussi, aux différents travailleurs qui 13 

viennent, pour démontrer que le travail qu’on fait 14 

répond à un besoin réel de ces enfants-là, ces 15 

familles-là. 16 

The Cree Health Board est heureux et fier de 17 

faire partie du Minnie’s Hope Center, en espérant 18 

pouvoir continuer longtemps cet engagement avec 19 

eux.  Merci. 20 

THE COMMISSIONER: 21 

Merci. 22 

NATHALIE ESPERON: 23 

Hi. 24 

THE COMMISSIONER: 25 
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Hi.  I’m listening to you. 1 

NATHALIE ESPERON: 2 

First of all, thank you for me to be here and to 3 

share with my children for the Minnie’s Hope.  I 4 

have... two... two kids... three kids that are... 5 

that are in a global speech delay.  My son, that’s 6 

his educator, je goes to the daycare at the Cree 7 

side.  He’s...  He... – my God... 8 

She works... on him one on one and he’s 9 

starting to learn some things and he goes at the 10 

Minnie’s Hope Center and the Minnie’s Hope is the 11 

biggest changed that it made for my children.  12 

There’s even my... my two kids go to summer camp 13 

after school.  My son Ethan, and my daughter Julie, 14 

they attend there and... they very much enjoy 15 

staying there, and they talk about... they talk 16 

about how fun it is that... they’ve learn so many 17 

good stuff, by doing activities, what they enjoy, 18 

the things that they enjoy being at the Minnie’s 19 

Hope. 20 

I... when I heard there was a Minnie’s Hope, I 21 

was...  I was really happy that my kids were... 22 

when they were attending there, there was a change 23 

because, I was going through a depression for my 24 

kids when... when they were not going there. 25 
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My kids ended up calming down, my depression 1 

was starting to go away, because my kids were 2 

playing and this, and, their attitudes changed, 3 

their... the violence has stopped and... it’s... I 4 

see a very huge impact on my kids attending 5 

Minnie’s Hope.  And I thank them so much that it’s 6 

been... good knowing what Minnie’s Hope, and that I 7 

really hope that it stays that way in many years, 8 

which I... I even had a depression for myself, I 9 

was even going to Minnie’s Hope, and they were 10 

making... they were talking with me, communicating 11 

with me and I was sharing all the problems that I 12 

had, growing up, and the problems I had with other 13 

people, and I’m just really happy that I just hope 14 

it sticks longer with this Minnie’s Hope.  That’s 15 

all I have to say. 16 

THE COMMISSIONER: 17 

Thank you Nathalie. 18 

NATHALIE ESPERON: 19 

Thank you. 20 

THE COMMISSIONER: 21 

I’m happy you’re happy. 22 

NATHALIE ESPERON: 23 

I’m very very happy.  My son learnt a lot.  He was 24 

doing a lot of bad stuff.  He was... there was He 25 
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was involved with kids that were making fires... 1 

there was so many problems for me when that thing 2 

happened and I was sharing with them what was 3 

happening with my son, and that I was almost close 4 

to giving up with my son, because there was so many 5 

things that were having... having problems that I 6 

had with him, specially in school.  And he changed 7 

a lot, and I thank so much now, for this Minnie’s 8 

Hope.  A lot.  Yeah.  That’s it now. 9 

THE COMMISSIONER: 10 

Thank you.  Me Elassal? 11 

Me EDITH FARAH-ELASSAL: 12 

I don’t have any questions but I want to thank you 13 

all for the sharing today, which was really really 14 

interesting for us.  Thank you. 15 

THE COMMISSIONER: 16 

Is there something you would like to add? 17 

JOHANNE MOREL: 18 

We just want to thank you for having taking the 19 

time to listen to all of us.  I want to thank 20 

everyone of... people who works for us, our board 21 

member, our... everyone who came to give this 22 

testimony for us.  Merci beaucoup. 23 

THE COMMISSIONER: 24 

Well thank you.  I forgot to... to offer other 25 
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counsels if they have questions. 1 

Me MAXIME LAGANIÈRE: 2 

Thanks to all of you for your testimony.  I don’t 3 

have any question.  Thank you. 4 

Me MARIE-PAULE BOUCHER: 5 

Thank you very much.  I won’t have any question. 6 

Me DENISE ROBILLARD: 7 

Thank you.  I’ve no question. 8 

THE COMMISSIONER: 9 

Thank you very much.  I will say just a few words 10 

before you’re leaving.  I think you deserve some... 11 

some thanks. 12 

  I noticed that Dr Morel told us that we have 13 

the ignorance of our own ignorance, and you think 14 

it’s applied to people serving in health services, 15 

but I think it may apply to other services, like 16 

police, social services, justice.  I think it’s 17 

important to realize that.  You told it and, I 18 

feel... I agree completely with you. 19 

I heard somebody, an Elder, saying, “you 20 

need... you need to listen to us, to hear us.”  21 

It’s important.  Very important.  And this is what 22 

we try to do at the Inquiry Commission. 23 

I hope it is like it, but...  I...  It’s 24 

really important to hear people, to listen to them. 25 



VOLUME 161 WINNIE MICKEYOOK, JUDY TOOKALOOK, 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 MARIANNE MARTIN, JOHANNE MOREL, 

 PASHA ABRAHAM, MARTINE CONSTANTINEAU ET NATHALIE ESPERON 

- 52 - 

Problem of household crowding.  You told (us) 1 

about that.  We heard also about that on many 2 

Indigenous leaders all around the province. 3 

To work in partnership, not do things for 4 

people but to do this all together.  To go see 5 

people, to listen to them, and try to find together 6 

how to pull this situation.  It’s important.  And 7 

this at the end of my report, government may 8 

understand that, I think it will have reach 9 

something important. 10 

And coming to Minnie’s Hope, it helps each 11 

child to reach his potential.  That’s what I heard.  12 

It’s important.  And what you’re doing is great.  13 

May help.  Winnie tells us it should be going out 14 

around the place in Nunavik, in other communities. 15 

Your wish to develop elsewhere, I share your 16 

wish.  I hope (that) people will listen to you, and 17 

you... I must tell you that, your presentation will 18 

be on our website for many years.  It’s possible, 19 

in a few days, to have it on our website.  I don’t 20 

know when, because internet is a bit slow in the 21 

North (laughter).  But it will be there.  And if 22 

you communicate with people in other villages or 23 

communities, you may tell them to go on our website 24 

and to listen to what was said today.  They will 25 
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see a presentation.  (It) may help.  And if you 1 

want to look at it yourself, it will be possible. 2 

So I thank you very very much.  I realize, 3 

from the testimony of Nathalie that it’s worth it.  4 

She tells... she’s happy and she looks happy.  And 5 

she wishes it will stay like this and I wish her it 6 

will stay like this.  I wish... I have the same 7 

wish for the parents who you’re working with. 8 

You need some help, some funding, I hope 9 

you’ll get it, from everywhere, and you need some 10 

help also, people coming to work with you.  And I 11 

have in mind that, what you’re doing with children 12 

may help in the future.  It’s important that 13 

children from Nordic alleges are... developed 14 

themselves, reach their potential.  They have 15 

potential.  They just need help to develop it.  And 16 

then they can come back and help others. 17 

We had some students this week, with their 18 

teachers, I was happy to see them.  And I told 19 

them, “you’re the future.”  So what you’re doing 20 

with the kids, at different age, it’s great. 21 

Thank you very much for them and I wish you 22 

the best. 23 

(People who gave testimonies thanked the Commissioner). 24 

We’ll suspend a few minutes and then...  25 
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Me Édith-Farah Elassal: 1 

 Yes... 2 

THE COMMISSIONER: 3 

Oh.  Yes. 4 

Me Édith-Farah Elassal: 5 

I have a... some more work to do. 6 

THE COMMISSIONER: 7 

If you want to have it done on the side... It has 8 

to be deported... 9 

Me Édith-Farah Elassal: 10 

Yes, exactly.  So we’re going to filing your 11 

presentation under P-953.  So, once again, thank 12 

you.  So that’s for the... 13 

- PIÈCE COTÉE P-953 - 14 

THE COMMISSIONER: 15 

Okay? 16 

THE CLERK: 17 

Yes. 18 

THE COMMISSIONER: 19 

Thank you again. 20 

THE CLERK: 21 

Merci beaucoup.  Thank you. 22 

THE COMMISSIONER: 23 

And congratulations.  We’ll suspend a few minutes. 24 

SUSPENSION 25 
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----------  1 

REPRISE 2 

THE CLERK 3 

The Commission is back in session. 4 

THE COMMISSIONER: 5 

So, welcome back.  Me Denis-Boileau, you will 6 

present the next witnesses? 7 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉ DENIS-BOILEAU: 8 

Yes.  So now, we will be hearing from three (3) 9 

Justice Committee Coordinators.  We have Phoebe 10 

Atagotaaluk... - I am sorry if I’m... not 11 

pronouncing it right - Justice Coordinator in 12 

Inukjuak.  Martin Scott, Administrator of the 13 

Tumiapiit Justice Committee in Aupaluk.  Marie-14 

Hannah Angatookalook, with the Justice Committee 15 

Coordinator, here, in Kuujjuarapik. 16 

THE COMMISSIONER 17 

Alors welcome to you.  I will ask the clerk to 18 

proceed with the oath. 19 

---------- 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 



VOLUME 161 MARTIN SCOTT, MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 ET PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK 

- 56 - 

Martin Scott 1 
Administrator/Tumiapiit Justice Committee of Aupaluk 2 
Assermentation sur la bible 3 

---------- 4 

Marie-Hannah Angatookalook 5 
Justice Committee coordinator of Kuujjuarapik 6 

Assermentation sur la bible 7 

---------- 8 

Phoebe Atagotaaluk 9 

Justice Coordinator, Inukjuak 10 
Assermentation sur la bible 11 

---------- 12 

THE CLERK: 13 

Thank you. 14 

THE COMMISSIONER: 15 

So, welcome to you.  Before beginning, I will just 16 

mention that we have today also some students from 17 

Grade 7 and Secondary 1 with their teacher Sara.  18 

So you’re welcome.  I’m glad to have students in 19 

the room, to listen to what’s going on.  They are 20 

the future.  Me Denis-Boileau? 21 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU: 22 

Yes.  So, first, before we start about the topic we 23 

want to talk about today, I will ask you to briefly 24 

introduce yourself and the job you do... well,  25 
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which job you are doing. 1 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 2 

Hi, my name is Phoebe Atagotaaluk.   3 

Je viens de Inukjuak.  Notre...  Je suis la 4 

Coordonnatrice du Comité de justice à Inukjuak.  5 

J’ai un bureau à Inukjuak. Je suis aussi la 6 

Coordonnatrice pour la Baie-d’Hudson, pour le 7 

Comité de justice là-bas.  J’étais un des premiers 8 

membres du Comité de justice, et maintenant je suis 9 

une coordonnatrice. 10 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 11 

Hi, I am Marie-Hannah Angatookalook, Justice 12 

Committee Coordinator.  I’ve been working with 13 

Justice Committee since two thousand fourteen 14 

(2014) and I also do Gladue report.  I travel along 15 

the Hudson coast and if need be, I help the 16 

Coordinator as well in Ungava Bay. 17 

MARTIN SCOTT: 18 

And my name is Martin Scott, I’m honored to be here 19 

as a southerner, to join... I’ve been a Justice 20 

Committee Coordinator since the Justice Committee 21 

began in Aupaluk, and I’m having difficulty 22 

remembering which year, the late nineteen-nineties 23 

(1990’s) or the early two-thousands (2000) but a... 24 

two thousand and one (2001) or so.  It’s been a 25 
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while, I can’t remember.  But I’ve been there since 1 

beginning.  My wife and I start the Aupaluk Justice 2 

Committee which is called Tumiapiit.  Thank you. 3 

THE COMMISSIONER: 4 

 You’re welcome.  I will listen to you. 5 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU: 6 

Thank you for just... as we discussed to open the 7 

discussion, could you share with us, please, your 8 

concerns about the... the Justice System in 9 

Nunavik. 10 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 11 

Peut-être que je peux être la première à vous 12 

remercier puis d’entendre nos inquiétudes ou les 13 

inquiétudes que nous avons depuis longtemps.  Merci 14 

beaucoup de nous inviter ici à cette audience.  15 

Nous sommes le Comité de justice, mais nous ne 16 

sommes pas les décideurs de justice dans nos 17 

communautés.  Quand il y a quelqu’un qui doit 18 

comparaître en cour ou dans un procès, les plus 19 

grands problèmes que nous avons c’est que, il y a 20 

pas d’interprètes.  Il n’y a pas assez 21 

d’interprètes qualifiés. 22 

Pendant les procès, il y a des interprètes 23 

généralement, c’est une bonne chose, quand il y a 24 

un procès en cour mais... les avocats de la défense 25 
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ont pas nécessairement toujours des interprètes 1 

quand ils doivent rencontrer leurs clients et c’est 2 

là qu’il y a un problème ou une barrière 3 

linguistique, c’est souvent juste avant que les... 4 

procédures du tiers prennent places. 5 

Aucun interprète de 4:52 à 5:01. 6 

Ils ne... parce qu’il y a beaucoup de termes 7 

techniques, alors l’interprétation est... cause le 8 

plus de problèmes lorsque les procès commencent et 9 

lorsqu’ils vont se tenir devant le juge, et ils 10 

sont déjà traumatisés, pensant qu’ils vont être 11 

arrêtés, et l’avocat de la défense n’est pas 12 

vraiment... ne les supporte pas vraiment.  13 

Parfois, nous pouvons simplement rencontrer 14 

leurs clients après les décisions qui ont été 15 

prises par le juge, et, souvent, ils reçoivent des 16 

conditions ou certains d’entre eux ne comprennent 17 

pas entièrement leurs conditions. 18 

Lorsque je leur comprends que c’est... je leur 19 

demande s’ils comprennent leurs conditions, 20 

certains d’entre eux ne comprennent pas, et un des 21 

problèmes c’est parce que... il n’y a pas 22 

d’interprète. 23 

Les polices n’ont pas d’interprète, certaines 24 

personnes qui ont été arrêtées par la police ou qui 25 
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sont incarcérées ne comprennent pas du tout.  Et 1 

ils ont pas une réceptionniste qui parle Inuktitut 2 

à la station de police, même s’il devrait y avoir 3 

tous les services qui leur sont fournis depuis le 4 

début.  Alors, ils ont pas une compréhension depuis 5 

le début, pourquoi ils sont arrêtés.  Alors il doit 6 

y avoir des interprètes à la station de police, au 7 

moins avoir une réceptionniste, à la station de 8 

police.  Et l’approbation normalement, va... 9 

retourne dans la communauté et souvent ils... n’ont 10 

pas d’interprète non plus.  Et parfois je dois 11 

accompagner leurs clients pour s’assurer que... 12 

surtout lorsque leur client n’a pas compris 13 

pleinement les décisions qui ont été prises.  Et si 14 

on leur demande de signer un papier, s’ils ne 15 

comprennent même pas, et là on leur dit, « bien 16 

signe quand même », même s’ils ne comprennent pas. 17 

Pour moi, cela est très important, qu’ils 18 

puissent recevoir ces services d’interprète et 19 

que... l’agent de libération conditionnelle aussi, 20 

pour qu’il puisse comprendre, pour que leurs 21 

clients comprennent.  Le fait qu’ils n’ont pas 22 

d’interprète et que les documents, la plupart du 23 

temps sont en français, même si certains sont en 24 

anglais.  Cependant, ils ne sont pas pleinement 25 
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compris par le client ou l’agent de probation.  Il 1 

y aussi, je crois, beaucoup d’autres problèmes que 2 

nous avons, mais si je me rappelle bien... 3 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 4 

I’d like to ask what she’s saying in about 5 

translators.  As Inuit, we’re always... afraid to 6 

ask, even if we understand, we’re not sure... - I 7 

don’t know how to say this -... 8 

Nous ne savons pas comment demander.  Pour 9 

ceux qui travaillent à la cour et les gens qui ont 10 

leur travail, ils comprennent ce qu’ils ont à faire 11 

mais pour nous, nous ne comprenons pas, parfois... 12 

et parfois nous avons de la difficulté à poser des 13 

questions. 14 

MARTIN SCOTT: 15 

So I’ll add the same... basic right to understand 16 

what’s happening to our clients, that’s not being 17 

met.  It’s very traumatic, it’s very scary to go to 18 

court, and then... it’s... everything is rushed. 19 

The first meeting they have are waiting in the 20 

hallway with their lawyer and it’s for five (5) 21 

minutes essentially and they don’t know what’s 22 

happening.  The lawyer has not enough time,... so 23 

the next [thing] I would like to get to but... 24 

there is not translation or interpretation while 25 
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they’re meeting with their lawyer before they’re 1 

expected to go into the court.  In the courtroom, 2 

there is interpretation, but people are so nervous 3 

and so stressed, they’re not really even 4 

understanding what’s happening in front of them and 5 

then, to their relief, they’re not taken away to 6 

jail but they’re released to go upstairs to find 7 

something with a probation officers and these 8 

documents are long and in English and, small 9 

prints, and they’re supposedly explained to what 10 

their probation conditions are, they’re asked to 11 

sign, but, when they come back to our community and 12 

we meet with them, we say, “ok, did you bring your 13 

conditions?” and hopefully they have them with 14 

them, we go over the conditions with them and they 15 

have no idea of what they signed, most of the time.  16 

They just say: I just wanted to get out of there.  17 

I just was told to sign and I signed, and so we go 18 

over the conditions with them... and these are very 19 

important documents that should be in Inuktitut.  20 

If not, explained to them in Inuktitut as they’re 21 

signing. 22 

So, the translation/interpretation is 23 

essential, the documents are fairly standard any 24 

way, it’s the same kind of clauses and... 25 
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conditions that are repeated over and over.  They 1 

should be translated and able to be modified in 2 

Inuktitut with a... a capable person to make sure 3 

it’s... it’s clear, and then at least they would 4 

know what they’re getting into, because often, they 5 

don’t have an opportunity to meet with the Justice 6 

Committee or someone to explain it to them, and 7 

they could even breach their conditions before 8 

they’re even aware of what they are; they could 9 

stay out too late one night, in the first night 10 

they get home, and their conditions is to be home 11 

by ten p.m. (10:00) and they’ve already breached 12 

their conditions and they’re already arrested. 13 

So, this is huge.  The... the language of 14 

understanding has to be in the... first language.  15 

Maybe I’ll start the recycle back. 16 

I’ll say the second point is the time with the 17 

lawyers.  It’s such a shocking... stressful 18 

condition for the people to be there and yet it’s 19 

rushed, it’s so rushed, they... I’ll say 20 

specifically too, in our community, in Aupaluk, the 21 

court is in Kuujjuaq, so the people have to travel 22 

to Kuujjuaq at least a day or two before and 23 

they’re very stressed about that.  They often 24 

travel on a Sunday, before the court workers are 25 
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even working or in... in Kuujjuaq, on a Monday, and 1 

many times, they wait for a day, they have to find 2 

their own place to stay, they’re not sure where 3 

they’re going to stay, how they’re going to get 4 

from the airport to the courthouse or where they’re 5 

staying...  They get to the courthouse, they wait 6 

and then they’re having in five (5) minute 7 

appearance it seems, with the lawyers.  And often 8 

they’re just told it’s been postponed.  And so 9 

then, they’re sent home, but they have to stay 10 

another night somewhere before they’re sent home 11 

the next day.  And so this is a huge issue.  The 12 

transportation between Aupaluk and the other 13 

communities, so I believe it’s Tasiujaq, Akulivik, 14 

Ivulivik and Umiujaq.  They all have to travel to 15 

larger centers for their court and I wonder if they 16 

all have the same issues where... the people feel 17 

they don’t know where they’re going to stay or how 18 

they’re going to... cope, while they’re out of 19 

their home community.  So it’s a very very very 20 

stressful time. 21 

They’re away from their family, they’re away 22 

from their job, it’s days and days sometimes and if 23 

they miss the flight going home, often the ticket 24 

is cancelled immediately... – oh, I’m going to 25 
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fast, thank you. 1 

Often the ticket is cancelled and then they 2 

have to find their own way home.  Unless we vouch 3 

for them, as a Justice Committee, with a valid 4 

reason that they missed their flight home. 5 

So... but the main point I wanted to make was 6 

to the amount of time they have with the lawyers, 7 

the ability to understand what options or choices 8 

they have. 9 

For the lawyers to have enough time to hear 10 

their story, to hear their side, I would believe is 11 

essential part of justice being done.  The accused 12 

need to be heard or have their chance to share with 13 

their lawyer that they feel they were falsely 14 

accused or that the story is not exactly as record 15 

is presenting it or, do they have the option to 16 

plead not guilty. 17 

Often they seem to be told to plead guilty, 18 

just to... get it over with, or...  Anyways, 19 

it’s... a very complicated situation that is not 20 

taken... is not given enough time to... for our 21 

clients to understand what’s happening. 22 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 23 

Alors ce qu’il mentionne c’est le... on le 24 

reconnait ce que Martin vient de dire, le fait que 25 
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à Inukjuak, on doit pas voyager, mais les autres 1 

communautés, oui, et parfois, il y a seulement un 2 

avocat qui vient à l’avance, un jour à l’avance ou 3 

deux jours à l’avance de la cour, mais la plupart 4 

des avocats de la défense rencontrent leurs clients 5 

pour un bref moment, sans qu’on leur explique 6 

adéquatement, sans vraiment parler adéquatement. 7 

Ils n’ont pas assez de temps de rencontrer 8 

leurs clients et l’avocat de la défense, et c’est 9 

toujours à la presse.  10 

Alors... ça c’est un gros problème que nous 11 

avons.  Si au moins l’avocat de la... les avocats 12 

de la défense pourraient venir à la communauté deux 13 

(2) jours avant la cour, ce serait beaucoup mieux. 14 

De cette façon, et parfois même les avocats de la 15 

défense, si j’ai un avocat de la défense, 16 

normalement ils ont un substitut et il faut tout 17 

recommencer avec le dossier, même si, initialement 18 

ils ont... il a parlé à son avocat, à l’origine, le 19 

premier, alors il faut répéter tout à l’avocat de 20 

substitut ou de remplacement, et c’est comme si,... 21 

nous sommes les gens qui sommes utilisés pour 22 

former les nouveaux avocats.  Alors ça devient très 23 

problématique parce que la cour arrive et ils sont 24 

à la hâte de... repartir sans terminer tous les 25 
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dossiers des gens qui devaient apparaître devant la 1 

cours, sans le support approprié. 2 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 3 

And here, as you may know, it’s a twin community 4 

for Inuit and in Cree.  When the court comes, the 5 

court deals with both Inuit and Cree.  On top of 6 

that, if people from (Umiujaq) from Monday to 7 

Friday, they’re dealing with three... three (3) 8 

communities.  And as well, the By-Law officer is 9 

inserted in there too.  So, there’s not a lot of 10 

time to see the clients and they arrive in... they 11 

arrive in the morning and they’re... when they come 12 

in, they’re... they only have like, half an hour to 13 

see all those people, which is not a lot of time.  14 

If they... they would come in advance, to work 15 

closely with their clients and find out if they 16 

need support or help, would be nice. 17 

MARTIN SCOTT: 18 

I have forgotten to mention, come back to the topic 19 

of a translation.  Not just in the Court, not just 20 

with the lawyers, not just with the probation 21 

officers but, afterwards.  I have a specific 22 

example of the day the Commission was in Aupaluk, I 23 

received a call from a young woman in Aupaluk 24 

and... at home, who was saying she had had a call 25 



VOLUME 161 MARTIN SCOTT, MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 ET PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK 

- 68 - 

from the prison where her husband was staying and 1 

she didn’t really understand what had said but she 2 

think... she thought the conversation went badly. 3 

So she gave me the phone number.  I called the 4 

gentleman and he said, “yeah, I’ve just spoken with 5 

her, she explained to me that she did not want her 6 

husband speaking with her, she does not want him to 7 

come back home and she’s a... she... you know, she 8 

wants no communication with him. 9 

I said that doesn’t sound right.  She just 10 

spoke to me that, she wants him to come home, she 11 

wants him to be able to call her and she hopes he 12 

can come home as soon as possible.  And this 13 

probation officer, a parole officer from the... 14 

from the Justice Court System, had already begun 15 

laying charges against the inmate because he had 16 

threatened his wife supposedly over the phone, and 17 

was harassing her, and to not allow him to 18 

communicate with his family anymore, because the 19 

conversation took place in English and the young 20 

woman is mostly unilingual Inuktitut speaking.  So 21 

that’s just such a huge example of... at every 22 

level of the system, if someone is going to call 23 

the community or speak with a family member, they 24 

must have translation with them.  It’s... it’s so 25 
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basic and yet it... it doesn’t seem to be hardly 1 

anywhere in the system, so, I just want to finish 2 

that translation idea with that example.  Thank 3 

you. 4 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 5 

Yes.  It’s also in the prison in... down South. 6 

Les gens dans les prisons.  Alors ils ont un 7 

agent de probation pour les gens en prison.  J’ai 8 

dû prendre soin d’un prisonnier, et j’appelle pour 9 

dire si je peux traduire des mots.  Nous avons 10 

compris que les gens là-bas, qui sont en prison, 11 

lorsqu’ils parlent avec l’agent de probation, avant 12 

qu’ils aillent à la cour, l’agent de probation 13 

parle au détenu avant d’aller à la cour, mais à un 14 

moment donné on m’a demandé si sa réponse était 15 

vraie, "est-ce que tu peux lui lire avant qu’il 16 

puisse aller à la cour pour que... m’assurer qu’il 17 

a compris, avant de venir en cour, d’apparaître en 18 

cour", et cette personne qui est en prison, je lui 19 

ai parlé et j’ai traduit ses questions. 20 

Alors je lui ai demandé, on... alors on t’a 21 

donné cette question, est-ce que tu as répondu 22 

correctement, est-ce que tu as compris?  Et j’ai 23 

compris... il a dit... « j’ai répondu sans 24 

comprendre ».  Parce que cette personne était à la 25 
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hâte, qui me demandait, et moi j’avais peur que je 1 

pouvais le retarder, alors j’ai répondu de la 2 

façon... de n’importe quelle façon, comme je le 3 

pouvais.  Et quand on a traduit ses mots, en 4 

Inuktitut, il n’avait aucune idée de ce qu’on lui 5 

parlait, aucune idée du tout. 6 

Alors cette personne qui a fait le rapport, a 7 

dit que... à tout ce qu’il supposait qu’il avait 8 

dit.  Alors cette personne avait une bonne réponse, 9 

il a répondu correctement, c’est ce qu’elle a dit, 10 

mais c’était pas vrai du tout.  C’était l’opposé, 11 

en réalité, de ce qu’il avait compris. 12 

Alors ces gens qui sont détenus, s’ils vont 13 

parler avec un Qallunaat ou avant d’aller en cour, 14 

ils doivent avoir un interprète, un traducteur avec 15 

eux, en tout temps.  Ça c’est un très.... un besoin  16 

urgent pour nous, c’est très important, surtout 17 

dans les prisons. 18 

Les gens demandent, avant qu’ils aillent en 19 

cour, ils ont un interprète quand ils vont en cour 20 

ou quand ils sont en cour, mais ils ont pas 21 

d’interprète pour les préparer avant d’aller en 22 

cour. 23 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU: 24 

I just have a question about what you said already.  25 
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Martin said at some point that, sometimes, people, 1 

they miss their flight.  So when they go to Court, 2 

they have a plane bringing them, the plane is being 3 

paid, but sometime they can miss their... their 4 

plane to go back to the community.  Who’s 5 

responsible to bring the persons to the plane?  6 

Who’s responsible to pay for the accommodation and 7 

the food while they are... they are waiting for 8 

their... their hearing, in another community that’s 9 

not their home community? 10 

MARTIN SCOTT: 11 

Well, this is becoming an issue.  Just recently, 12 

it’s... it’s astounding to me now, that after all 13 

these years, of us dealing with our clients going 14 

to Kuujjuaq, and always saying, “I don’t know where 15 

to stay, I don’t know what I’m going to eat, how am 16 

I going to get to the court?” 17 

We’ve try to ask people who... who’s 18 

responsible and... and just getting an answer now 19 

it’s becoming as... in the old days, let’s say, 20 

families where more close, people had relatives 21 

that they felt comfortable they could stay with, 22 

and I believe the Court somehow just assumed that 23 

people from Aupaluk would find a place to stay in 24 

Kuujjuaq and would find a place to be able to eat 25 
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and would be able to get a ride or would walk to 1 

the... from the airport to the town, to the Court 2 

and then back to the airport in time to take their 3 

flight. 4 

Their flight is the only thing that seem to be 5 

arranged and paid.  I’ve just heard recently, now 6 

young people today, don’t feel comfortable staying 7 

with their family members or don’t feel welcome or 8 

for whatever reason, they literally come to us as 9 

they’re leaving and saying: “I have no idea where 10 

I’m staying in Kuujjuaq, I don’t know what I’m 11 

going to eat”, and this is on a Sunday afternoon, 12 

before they’re even expected to be in Court on a 13 

Monday or Tuesday morning - Monday afternoon or 14 

Tuesday morning. 15 

So I’ve started to ask just recently and I’ve 16 

been told it’s the defense lawyers that are 17 

supposed to provide those services for their 18 

clients, and the defense lawyers have said they 19 

perhaps understand that or they don’t believe that 20 

or... so it seems to be very very grey area that’s 21 

not properly dealt with and I don’t know if this 22 

applies to the other communities, that people have 23 

to travel to Court from their home. 24 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU: 25 



VOLUME 161 MARTIN SCOTT, MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 ET PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK 

- 73 - 

And who says it’s the... who decides that’s the 1 

defense lawyer’s responsibility?  From who did you 2 

get that information? 3 

MARTIN SCOTT: 4 

I would have to check my emails, but I believe that 5 

was from the Crown. 6 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU: 7 

Now I can...  You were telling me that you wanted 8 

to talk about the KRPF, police regional... the 9 

Kativik Regional Police Force, so... 10 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 11 

Nous avons un grand problème avec le KRPF à 12 

Puvirnituq.  Ce que je vois le plus c’est que cette 13 

personne qui est allée en cour et qui se fait 14 

donner des conditions de ne pas consommer de 15 

drogues ou d’alcool et qu’il y d’autres choses 16 

d’impliquées dans ces conditions, dépendant du 17 

crime.  Notre communauté est petite, on se connaît 18 

tous, on se connaît tous dans la communauté.  C’est 19 

comme si on essaie de trouver quelqu’un qui va 20 

faire des erreurs.  Par exemple, si quelqu’un a une 21 

condition de ne pas boire, aussitôt qu’on voit 22 

cette personne-là, c’est comme si on cherche à 23 

trouver des problèmes.  C’est un très gros 24 

problème.  Ça s’appelle violer les conditions ou ne 25 



VOLUME 161 MARTIN SCOTT, MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 ET PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK 

- 74 - 

pas respecter les conditions. 1 

Mais, la police, parfois, si au moins elle 2 

pourrait dire que... si, admettons, « Ah, toi t’as 3 

des conditions et ton couvre-feu c’est à cette 4 

heure-là, alors tu dois rentrer à la maison », au 5 

lieu de toujours les arrêter parce que ils sont... 6 

parce qu’ils respectent pas le couvre-feu.  Moi 7 

j’aimerais que la police aide les clients de cette 8 

manière, pour qu’ils aient pas toujours besoin de 9 

revenir en cour et retourner en prison en fin de 10 

compte. 11 

Si ce n’est pas un crime majeur et qu’ils ne 12 

respectent pas les conditions, violent les 13 

conditions, ils pourraient au moins juste leur dire 14 

d’aller à la maison, retourner à la maison.  Parce 15 

que cette condition de ne pas boire, c’est un enjeu 16 

très complexe. 17 

Quelqu’un aime... les gens aiment avoir un 18 

petit verre à boire pour relaxer, et si les polices 19 

se rendent compte que ces gens-là ont bu même juste 20 

un peu et qu’ils sentent l’alcool, ils vont 21 

l’arrêter immédiatement. 22 

En tant que Inuk, quand tu vis avec des 23 

Inuits, ils... les gens pardonnent immédiatement et 24 

quand les gens doivent suivre des conditions 25 
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énormes, bien, ça complique les choses. 1 

Ça me semble comme si c’était une erreur de... 2 

arrêter les gens qui violent leurs conditions, 3 

parce que ces gens-là, très souvent, ils veulent 4 

tout simplement guérir.  Peut-être qu’on pourrait 5 

enlever cette condition, du fait que les gens ne 6 

devraient pas boire, mais si c’est un crime majeur, 7 

peut-être est-ce une bonne chose de garder les 8 

conditions.  Mais si c’est une... un petit crime ou 9 

pas un crime majeur, s’ils se font donner des 10 

conditions telles que t’as pu le droit de boire 11 

d’alcool, bien ça devient complexe. 12 

T’s, quand on dit ces gens-là, ils... « Ah, 13 

t’as bu de l’alcool, et là maintenant tu dois 14 

retourner en cour, bien ça fait juste faire marche 15 

arrière dans le fond.  16 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 17 

C’est un gros problème dans notre communauté et ça 18 

m’inquiète beaucoup.  Je pense que... ils se 19 

font... payer plus d’argent, ils ont sûrement un 20 

bonus s’ils trouvent quelqu’un qui violent leurs 21 

conditions.  Il y a plus de gens qui sont... qui se 22 

font renvoyer si tu... pour les jeunes qui... pour 23 

les gens qui violent leurs conditions. 24 

MARTIN SCOTT: 25 
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So I believe in the past, one of our supervisors, 1 

at the Makivik Justice Department, was trying to 2 

plead with the Crowns or the judges that... to 3 

always give the conditions to not consume alcohol 4 

or drugs, was just setting people up to breach. 5 

The condition to maintain peace and good order 6 

should be enough, that if someone is going to drink 7 

to excess and then get into trouble, well then 8 

they... they’ve breached their conditions. 9 

But to just have some... to even be drunk, in 10 

their own home, but to not be causing any trouble 11 

to... it shouldn’t necessarily be a reason to be 12 

arrested. 13 

If... there’s the times that are serious and, 14 

of course, that is real breach of condition when 15 

someone is... is creating a very serious 16 

disturbance.  But there are other times where we 17 

would hope for more community policing approach, 18 

where the police officers are aware of who the 19 

different individuals are, they’re aware that this 20 

is a case of just telling... “Mister, go home,  21 

just sleep it off”, or... we know the police are... 22 

sometimes letting... bringing people to the cell, 23 

to then sleep off their condition and releasing 24 

them the next day without any charges without... 25 
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so, that, to me, is community policing. 1 

But it is true that the people with conditions 2 

do seem to be absolutely under the eye of the 3 

police, it is their job, but it almost seems like 4 

they’re... searching and waiting for someone to 5 

breach their conditions, instead of perhaps giving 6 

them a warning, especially in the summer time. 7 

It’s ten thirty (10:30) at night, the sun is 8 

almost still shining and someone is out, and then, 9 

perhaps the police could say, “do you know what 10 

time it is?”  -“No, what time is it?  You 11 

know.  - It’s ten thirty (10:30).  –“Oh, I was 12 

supposed to be home at ten (10:00).”  -“Yes, go 13 

home.” 14 

 Instead, they’re arrested immediately, 15 

they’re sent to AMES, they’re kept there for days 16 

for bail hearing and usually the breach was so 17 

minor, and with our support as a Justice Committee, 18 

they’re re... sent back to Aupaluk or to home, and 19 

this whole process took a week, it took how many 20 

thousands and thousands of tax payer dollars and 21 

the stress on the individual, the stress on the 22 

family, that they were rearrested and re-detained, 23 

it just doesn’t seem to make sense that... there’s 24 

so many conditions that are just waiting to be 25 
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broken that are not necessarily the right 1 

condition. 2 

Peace and good order should be enough in most 3 

cases but of course, there are cases... case by 4 

case, we can always say case by case, a more 5 

serious offense requires a more serious observation 6 

of that individual.  But it seems to be a blanket 7 

condition, to not be consuming any drugs or 8 

alcohol, and the minute a... an eager young police 9 

officer notices that, that individual is not 10 

supposed to be smoking marijuana or is not supposed 11 

to have any drinks as... prevention, if they smell 12 

something on them, “oh you’ve breached your 13 

conditions” and they arrest him immediately, 14 

instead of giving them a warning.  -“Oh.” 15 

This is a huge issue and it... takes so many 16 

more court files.  This leads to the next topic 17 

which is the postponement. 18 

While people are being waiting for their court 19 

and so often traveling to court, going through all 20 

the stress in our situation from another community, 21 

only to be told “your file is postponed.”  The 22 

replacement lawyer does not know your file well 23 

enough or for whatever reason, you don’t know why, 24 

but the files are almost... constantly postponed.  25 
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It’s just given that a client that goes to Court 1 

will be sent home because their file was postponed. 2 

And during that time, their conditions 3 

continue, their undertakings or their conditions 4 

continue and they have that much more opportunity 5 

time to breach their conditions, and sometimes the 6 

most minor thing... that might have led to an 7 

alternative measure, if it had been dealt with very 8 

quickly, an alternative measure that’s given back 9 

to the Justice Committee that’s without any 10 

criminal record, sometimes these files go on for 11 

years, literally, years, just because of the delays 12 

in the court. 13 

And so, during those years, they get a much 14 

larger criminal record for all of the breaches and, 15 

because of the stress they’re under, because 16 

they’re going to be going to Court, they perhaps do 17 

commit more serious crime and it’s just a vicious 18 

cycle.  The postponements I believe, when we’ve 19 

discussed it, are... is perhaps the second or third 20 

most serious issue, the length of time that these 21 

files are postponed becomes ridiculous, and that we 22 

know that, there’s some work in Canada now to 23 

reduce that time. 24 

But in our case, when the flights are delayed 25 
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or there’s weather, it seems those are not... 1 

[applicable] to saying the case has taken to long. 2 

But in any case, they are postponed too many 3 

times and the effects are very very serious. 4 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 5 

We received court dockets.  On the dockets we’ll 6 

see crimes that they have committed and there are 7 

many cases that... could be dealt with the... by 8 

the Justice Committee.  If we work closely with the 9 

Court, maybe we could decide who we can take and 10 

who should go to Court... it would help or reduce 11 

the number of people that are on the waiting list, 12 

so our... it would reduce the postponements if 13 

we... as Justice Committee, take the minor cases. 14 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉ DENIS-BOILEAU : 15 

Yes.  So, this can be done through the alternative 16 

measure program that the Justice Committee can take 17 

on some cases.  Do you feel like it’s being used 18 

enough right now? 19 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 20 

(Inuktitut) all kind of different measures.  When 21 

we receive alternative measures, it’s usually 22 

through Court.  How I would think would be better 23 

would be, instead of going to Court, if the police 24 

could, at least, say it was not like a minor... it 25 
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was just a minor to... communicate with us right 1 

away.  ‘Cause if we have to go through Court and 2 

then... then the judge or the prosecutor have to 3 

know that this person did this, we’re gonna 4 

transfer them to the Justice Coordinator.  And 5 

that, it... what’s going to the police, maybe we’ll 6 

be faster directly to us, in these kind of files. 7 

That’s how... I would feel that would be a lot 8 

better because we have so... sometimes we get so 9 

many files, [some] alternative measures, and they 10 

have to wait, they have to go to Court and meet the 11 

lawyer and then I... just this Coordinator have to 12 

accept this... is able to take care of the person, 13 

of course we would say yes to alternative measures.  14 

No problem. 15 

Would it be better if we could, you know, 16 

communicate with the police and... if it’s a minor 17 

crime, just to give it to us instead of having to 18 

go through Court.  That’s how I would think. 19 

MARTIN SCOTT: 20 

I was going to mention that, with the alternative 21 

measures, if they could be, as Phoebe is saying, 22 

given straight to Justice Committees, that’s done 23 

quickly, it’s done with our approach locally, it’s 24 

much more in tune with the way justice could be 25 
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delivered by the community for the individual that 1 

the Crown has decided is so minor it shouldn’t even 2 

be a criminal case and it should be given back to 3 

the communities. 4 

So, the mention... the thing I was going to 5 

mention was, there are so many postponements, even 6 

for things like alternative measures, that we would 7 

hope that the Court system, the Crown, the Defense 8 

Lawyer and the Judge could all work together before 9 

the Court somehow, and to look at the files and 10 

determine: this could be an alternative measure, 11 

let’s give it straight to community. 12 

This is going to be postponed because the 13 

alternative lawyer does not have the files 14 

necessary and then, all of that is predetermined 15 

before the tickets are issued for the people 16 

from... again from the smaller communities that 17 

have to travel, to avoid all... most of the 18 

postponements.  It’s still a postponement, but it’s 19 

not when where someone had to leave their home, 20 

leave their community, stay for a few days, deal 21 

with all the stress of that and the temptations of 22 

a larger community that has a bar or has something 23 

that, more often, sometimes people get in trouble 24 

again for that.  If that part of the system could 25 
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be looked at, if the courts could get their act 1 

together and predetermine which files really must 2 

involve people traveling, and which files are just 3 

going to be postponed any way, and... somehow do 4 

that before people’s life are yanked around and 5 

travelled around, that would end, if the 6 

alternative measures could be just given as quickly 7 

as possible to the Justice Committees, these...  8 

There are instances where, because of those 9 

postponements, a simple alternative measure file 10 

took eight to twelve months to reach us and that 11 

whole time, that person is suffering, is worried, 12 

has gone to court maybe four times during those 13 

eight, months, only to be told their file was 14 

postponed and then finally it finishes in an 15 

alternative measure that... for something that was 16 

so minor, it just doesn’t make sense, it’s too 17 

stressful, it’s too disturbing to the individuals. 18 

And we are there to take those files.  Or somehow 19 

the system can be tweaked to address that.  That 20 

would save so much time, efforts, stress... 21 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 22 

And the cases that we do receive, if they could 23 

give all the information, because we have to enter 24 

the staff and... make some action, so the 25 
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government could give us the funding to work.  If 1 

the court (inaudible) or the Crown could... let’s 2 

say, when we have to enter the information in the 3 

computer, we don’t have all the necessary 4 

information to enter them.  They’re from... before 5 

the end of the court week, if they could give us 6 

all the files, necessary files, it could help us 7 

process... everything on our side as well. 8 

MARTIN SCOTT: 9 

I’ll just add, the paper work for the alternative 10 

measures, it’s a very simple form, that the Crown 11 

is obligated to just fill out and send to us.  It 12 

seems to be very late sometimes, they seem to... 13 

everyone is rushed but what... Mary-Hannah is 14 

referring to is just the court file number needs to 15 

be written in the top right hand corner, just so we 16 

have the reference and we can enter it in our file.  17 

It’s... almost never there.  We’re just to assume 18 

we know which file number it is, we have to go back 19 

to the court docket or find it, but there are 20 

different files - people sometimes have multiple 21 

files - and we’re not sure which one was really for 22 

that alternative measure.  I will say that... 23 

another specific example. 24 

Alternative measure was given to one of our 25 
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clients in June, but we never got the document.  1 

And then we were approached in September, have they 2 

completed their alternative measures, just for our 3 

information.  And thits person was suffering all 4 

summer long, waiting for Court, knowing they were 5 

going to be back in Court in September and... no 6 

one knew that alternative measures had been given. 7 

So, the documents don’t always follow and they 8 

need to be... there needs to be even a clerk 9 

maybe... now that... we’re very happy, I think all 10 

of us can agree, to hear that there’s a new 11 

protocol, that many more alternative measures will 12 

be given for a larger range of activity, of 13 

criminal activity or incidents and that even people 14 

with previous criminal records are going to be 15 

allowed to be... able to take part in the 16 

alternative measures system.  That means many more 17 

files will be coming our way, so perhaps us... 18 

clerk, just for alternative measures, to speed that 19 

up and to make sure that the documentation is... 20 

sent timely, would be a good idea. 21 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉ DENIS-BOILEAU: 22 

You were telling me that a lot... of cases, you 23 

feel, could be diverted to alternative measures 24 

program from your opinion as Justice Committee 25 
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Coordinator but are not.  Are you sometimes being 1 

called or can you share your... your perspective to 2 

the Crown Attorney and tell them “I think I want to 3 

take that case”, do they call you to ask your 4 

perspective on this type of decisions, which case 5 

they could send you? 6 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 7 

 Sorry.  I couldn’t get the question. 8 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉ DENIS-BOILEAU: 9 

Yeah, I’m sorry.  You were telling me that a lot of 10 

cases, you feel, could have been going to 11 

alternative measures programs but are not.  Do 12 

the... do the Crown sometimes ask to your opinion 13 

on which case you think should go to the 14 

alternative measure program? 15 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 16 

I never had a Crown calling me [on] alternate 17 

situation like that.  They never... I never had 18 

someone ask me which one would be the best for 19 

the... a person who would be good for alternative 20 

measure. 21 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 22 

I haven’t had any Crown Prosecutors asking me 23 

either.  I think it’s the Crown and the Defense 24 

Lawyer that discuss before him and they give it to 25 
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us. 1 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 2 

Yeah, it’s usually like, the prosecutor and the 3 

lawyer, they discuss about the case, to say if they 4 

should be transferred to Justice coordinator.  And 5 

that’s...  It’s the same thing, as I mentioned, 6 

that if it is a minor or it’s not a big... big 7 

crime, to transfer them right away from the police 8 

station and it would feel... [they’re not easier] 9 

to doing that, to discuss with us the situation. 10 

MARTIN SCOTT: 11 

Yes, I’ll add this.  I believe it is the Crown and 12 

the Defense lawyers the team should agree together 13 

and then we’re just informed “you have a new 14 

client, this is an alternative measure, we’re 15 

sending it to you.  Uhm...  We’re not consulted. 16 

I would like to add the concept of... 17 

restoring harmony is really what we feel our work 18 

is about.  Where’s the Criminal Justice System is a 19 

disciplinary punishment, sending someone away, and 20 

maybe in the South that person will not come back. 21 

But in our communities the person will always come 22 

back.  And sometimes just... if they’re not giving 23 

in any access to programs or... if the real based 24 

reason for the crime is not dealt with, sending 25 
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them to jail for a couple of years just postpones 1 

the inevitable of them coming back to have to 2 

resolve those issues with their family members or 3 

their victim.  And that’s why we are there for.  We 4 

hopefully can be the ones to make the resolution to 5 

return the harmony between the people, that is just 6 

not happening with the... jail sentences. 7 

So in our support letters, we always say “we 8 

would like to suggest, this is an alternative to 9 

jail time.”  In every... in almost every case.  For 10 

sure, there are some very very serious cases where 11 

a person must be separated for their safety and 12 

everyone else’s safety.  But those are very few. 13 

And many many more files I believe, that do 14 

end up in jail, could have been resolved very 15 

easily by us, as a Justice Committee, with our 16 

Elders, with our resources, even with the social 17 

worker, even in our tiny community, I believe we 18 

have the resources to resolve most of the issues 19 

and the fact is, with the postponement, most of the 20 

issues have already been resolved between the 21 

individuals. 22 

After eight months, twelve months, eighteen 23 

months, people have learned to get along and 24 

resolved.  They’ve said sorry to each other, even 25 
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if they weren’t supposed to communicate due to 1 

their conditions, they have made the efforts 2 

because they know it can’t work... that they see 3 

each other, they pass each other in the street; 4 

they’re standing in line together at the CoOp 5 

store.  They have to resolve, that’s harmony... 6 

that’s resolving harmony, that’s what our purposes, 7 

that’s what people know, is what need to happen, or 8 

it’s just too difficult to coexist in such small 9 

place.  Where you can’t go anywhere else. 10 

We are fly-in communities, you know, so... 11 

Yes, our job could be much bigger, we would 12 

need many more resources, we would need more 13 

members, more administrators, but I believe we 14 

could take on many more cases and resolved it the 15 

Inuit way, without so many cases being back logged, 16 

so many times in Court and then going to jail. 17 

So the alternative measures as a... solution, 18 

instead of people going to jail, which seems to be 19 

happening so often when it doesn’t necessarily have 20 

to. 21 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 22 

Je veux simplement mentionner aussi que les Inuits 23 

ont... on est des gens qui pardonnent facilement, 24 

je veux que les gens sachent que nous, en tant 25 
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qu’Inuits, nous pardonnons facilement même 1 

lorsqu’une personne a été donné une condition de ne 2 

pas être en contact avec une personne, lorsque vous 3 

avez une condition semblable et que les gens se 4 

pardonnent facilement l’un l’autre, et le plus 5 

problème c’est l’alcool, la consommation d’alcool, 6 

et... parce que la plupart des gens ont été bloqués 7 

lorsqu’ils ont commis un crime contre une autre 8 

personne, alors automatiquement ils sentent... de 9 

la culpabilité, ce qu’ils ont fait contre la 10 

personne et ils demandent pardon immédiatement. 11 

Alors, en tant qu’Inuits nous pardonnons, nous nous 12 

excusons facilement l’un l’autre.  Et le plus tôt 13 

possible. 14 

Et en tant que membre de Comité de la justice, 15 

nous... rencontrer les gens qui étaient dans le 16 

système judiciaire et les Aînés. 17 

Je me souviens, un Aîné qui m’a dit, et je 18 

vais m’en souvenir, comment les Inuits avaient la 19 

coutume de... avec leur système judiciaire, on nous 20 

disait que les Inuits, lorsqu’une personne était 21 

fâchée, en colère, ou avait fait quelque chose 22 

contre une autre personne... était violente, ils se 23 

rencontraient et ils rencontraient... les Aînés 24 

rencontraient cette personne immédiatement, et on 25 
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traitait de ce problème immédiatement.  1 

Alors ils rencontraient cette personne 2 

immédiatement et il y avait un igloo, un gros 3 

igloo, et ils amenaient cette personne-là seule, 4 

pour être... pour qu’elle soit seule, pour 5 

réfléchir, et c’est une manière de discipliner les 6 

personnes qui avaient violé des... enfreint les 7 

droits d’une autre personne. 8 

Alors, en tant qu’Inuits, nous pardonnons 9 

facilement, et c’est comme ça que les Inuits 10 

utilisent le système judiciaire.  11 

Alors les Inuits, ils vivent encore le système 12 

judiciaire Qallunaat, l’homme blanc, alors... ça 13 

rallonge les dossiers et je pense que... et je sais 14 

que le système judiciaire aide dans certains cas, 15 

de certaines manières.  Mais, j’aimerais que les 16 

gens comprennent que, on peut pardonner 17 

facilement... pas tout le monde, mais, la plupart 18 

des Inuits se pardonnent mutuellement facilement, 19 

même lorsqu’une personne était en colère pendant 20 

une nuit, alors nos Aînés nous enseignent que le 21 

jour d’après, qu’on devrait... on doit vivre une 22 

nouvelle journée, pas simplement d’être... de 23 

rester accroché à la nuit antérieure, et, donc, 24 

avant que le soleil se lève. 25 
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MARTIN SCOTT:  1 

Maybe this is time to talk about the... the base 2 

underlying reasons for all of the anger and the 3 

violence and the problems.  The idea that the 4 

alcoholism is a symptom of the pain that people are 5 

still living in, that they use today, are angry. 6 

They’re born into families that are angry from the 7 

injustices done from generations past.  So 8 

multigenerational trauma is being transferred down 9 

the generations and the young people today are 10 

angry.  Their parents were angry but they didn’t 11 

know how to show it and there was lateral violence. 12 

Instead of fighting against the oppression, the 13 

violence went laterally within the family, within 14 

the community.  And so those concepts are generally 15 

understood.  People are just, perhaps gonna believe 16 

they’re just bad people doing bad things, without 17 

outstanding their soul.  There needs to be a lot 18 

more work, I believe - and we’ve discussed this... 19 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 20 

Oui, c’est vrai.  La jeunesse aujourd’hui, ne 21 

comprennent pas pourquoi ils souffrent.  Depuis que 22 

le gouvernement a commencé à dominer notre peuple 23 

et je veux que les gens comprennent que le massacre 24 

des chiens, la relocalisation, les pensionnats..., 25 
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nous avons été manipulés de cette façon par le 1 

gouvernement et cela a eu un gros impact sur notre 2 

jeunesse.  L’alcool, les drogues sont utilisées 3 

énormément.  Ils prennent de l’alcool lorsqu’ils 4 

sont inquiets et ils viennent à nous parce qu’ils 5 

comprennent pas.  Ils comprennent pas pourquoi ils 6 

sont fâchés aujourd’hui.  Ils comprennent pas 7 

pourquoi ils sont fâchés aujourd’hui.  Et le 8 

massacre des chiens, les... nos hommes ont perdu 9 

leurs équipes de chiens, on les a enfermés... 10 

(pleure) Je suis désolée.  Je me suis promis de ne 11 

pas pleurer. 12 

Alors le massacre des chiens a eu un gros 13 

impact sur... sur nos parents, ils ont... ils sont 14 

devenus confus. 15 

La relocalisation,... je suis une descendante 16 

de ceux qui ont été relocalisés et je suis 17 

retournée à Inukjuaq.  Nous n’avons aucune 18 

compréhension de combien de douleur nous a été 19 

donné à nos parents, nos grands-parents, et les 20 

pensionnats, si la population de ceux qui ont été 21 

au pensionnat... lorsqu’ils étaient simplement 22 

enfant, ils ont pris les enfants et la mère qui est 23 

séparée de son enfant qu’elle aime, et aujourd’hui 24 

nous ne comprenons pas, où sont les parents... ils 25 
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boivent, ils sont fâchés, en colère, et c’est pour 1 

cela qu’il y a tant de personnes emprisonnées et 2 

qui vont et reviennent en prison.  Parce qu’ils ne 3 

comprennent pas les ressources ou... les ressources 4 

qu’ils peuvent obtenir.  Je ne pense pas que c’est 5 

la seule raison mais, cela a eu... c’est ce qui a 6 

causé un plus grand impact à la communauté, la 7 

raison pour laquelle nous sommes en colère comme 8 

Inuits, le fait d’être simplement manipulé et nos 9 

parents qui ont été manipulés et dominés par les 10 

Qallunaat, parce qu’ils adorent comme les... ils 11 

adorent les Qallunaat et nous avons cela aussi, 12 

même si on veut pas être comme ça parce que, on... 13 

on nous a enfermés, et...  On m’a amenée au 14 

pensionnat, alors, on élève nos enfants, à la façon 15 

Qallunaat parce que, on est habitués à être dominés 16 

et manipulés par les Qallunaat, et on a perdu notre 17 

connaissance, d’élever les enfants, parce que, 18 

c’est comme si on a été... le gouvernement nous a 19 

enlevé tous nos droits.  Alors on a une vie... 20 

c’est pour ça qu’on a une vie, en tant que jeune 21 

aujourd’hui, c’est comme si... parce que nos 22 

parents n’osaient pas nous expliquer pourquoi ils 23 

étaient en colère.  24 

Récemment, j’ai compris pourquoi mes parents 25 



VOLUME 161 MARTIN SCOTT, MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 ET PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK 

- 95 - 

ont été relocalisés.  Pourquoi, je n’ai même pas 1 

demandé pourquoi parce que, ils étaient tellement 2 

silencieux sur cet... à cet effet et c’est... et 3 

voilà l’impact que cela eu dans nos communautés au 4 

Nunavik, parce que, ils n’ont pas parlé de cela, de 5 

cette situation, parce que nos parents, étaient 6 

silencieux, ils n’avaient pas le droit d’en parler.  7 

Et c’est pour cela qu’il y a tellement de gens 8 

d’incarcérés aujourd’hui. 9 

Et les membres de notre communauté, lorsqu’ils 10 

commencent à nous entendre parler de ces choses, 11 

les jeunes peuvent avoir une meilleure 12 

compréhension et... et de cette façon, ils 13 

peuvent... il peut y avoir un grand changement même 14 

si ce massacre de chiens c’est... a eu lieu il y a 15 

plusieurs années, c’est encore dans le cœur des 16 

gens.  Les familles ont perdu comment aimer leurs 17 

enfants et ils ont échangé cela pour la boisson, et 18 

ça c’est un grand problème dans nos communautés. Et 19 

c’est pour cela que nous sommes, nous avons 20 

beaucoup de colère dans notre communauté lorsque 21 

la... Qallunaat ou à la police ou à la cour, ils 22 

ont pas la compréhension de ce qu’ils... je me 23 

demande s’ils comprennent vraiment ce... ce que 24 

vivent nos familles et l’impact que tout cela a eu 25 
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sur nos familles.  Ils commencent à parler 1 

présentement et les gens commencent à entendre que 2 

nous... et nous voulons entendre... nous voulons 3 

être entendus davantage, et nous avons été... que 4 

nous avons été dominés, manipulés par le 5 

gouvernement. 6 

Même... nous avons été endommagés.  Même si 7 

nous essayons de vivre et s’il y a des ressources 8 

pour ça... et de parler de ce que nous avons vécu 9 

dans notre histoire pour que nos descendants... 10 

Parfois, nous devons laisser nos communautés 11 

pour la guérison, nous devons, nous avons besoin de 12 

centres de guérison dans nos communautés pour ceux 13 

qui... ceux qui sont... qui ont sorti de prison, 14 

qui vont... c’est parce qu’ils ont des problèmes.  15 

Pour les récidivistes aussi.  Parce que nous avons 16 

été manipulés par le gouvernement.  Alors ça c’est 17 

le sujet important dont je voulais parler et c’est 18 

un grand problème, que nous avons été dominés et 19 

manipulés dans le gouvernement dans le passé. 20 

Merci. 21 

MARTIN SCOTT: 22 

Okay.  So, the idea of resources.  Ideas of...  We 23 

just... we’re listening before Winnie’s Hope... 24 

- Minnie’s Hope I should say - if we could... even  25 
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our smallest communities have a women shelter, so 1 

that women and their children could have a safe 2 

place to be... or a men center, where the men could 3 

go when they can remove themselves from a situation 4 

before they become violent.  Or a children’s drop 5 

in center, when the family is all drinking perhaps, 6 

and the children, the young children don’t know 7 

where to go or what to do.  They stay in the 8 

streets all night, instead... perhaps they can go 9 

to a center where they can eat and have games and 10 

have access to counseling, an Inuit counseling. 11 

So that would be the Christmas wish list for 12 

every community to have those kinds of resources: 13 

family houses, or children centers or... if they 14 

can all be in one place or at separate places, who 15 

knows, but, those resources available so that... 16 

traumas and the incidents are lessened because 17 

people have a place to go, and then they have 18 

counseling while they’re there and the follow-up of 19 

the counsellors and this then leads to the idea of 20 

the fostering of children and the youth protection. 21 

If the families had a place to be safe, parts 22 

of the families, perhaps the children would have 23 

much better chance and those families would have a 24 

much better chance to access resources, counseling, 25 
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so that they wouldn’t lose their children... and we 1 

believe, we understand the last step is supposed to 2 

be the removal of children, but every resources is 3 

supposed to be made available to the parents before 4 

that happen.  But we don’t believe that’s the case.  5 

The children are being removed almost immediately 6 

and the parents are left without their children in 7 

even a worse state with... no resources to help 8 

them improve to become the parents they need to be 9 

to get their children back.  So, this is a huge 10 

huge issue that I know is the center of many... 11 

every organization regardless of their mandate, the 12 

fostering of the children being taken away comes up 13 

at every meeting, so... and it’s all linked 14 

together, everything is tied together but, the 15 

resources being the main one.  We need centers for 16 

people to be able to go and have access to 17 

resources, to counseling, and that just doesn’t 18 

exist. 19 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉ DENIS-BOILEAU : 20 

Phoebe, you just talked about dog’s slaughtering, 21 

the residential school, something you told me is 22 

that, a lot of things were lost or damaged, 23 

including their ways of doing social regulations.  24 

And you were telling me that people, sometimes, 25 
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feel like they don’t have the right anymore to do 1 

social regulation within the community.  Could you 2 

explain that? 3 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 4 

Yes.  Because they...  Oui, parce que, une Inuite, 5 

Inuk, est très affectée par le massacre des chiens 6 

ou la relocalisation.  Ils ont perdu leur capacité 7 

d’être un véritable Inuk.  Leurs valeurs ont été 8 

perdues.  9 

Les Inuits se rencontraient ensemble pour 10 

résoudre des problèmes et lorsque le gouvernement a 11 

commencé à dominer, les valeurs inuites ont été 12 

perdues.  Ils auraient travaillé ensemble, comme 13 

équipe, afin de résoudre ce problème, et il semble 14 

qu’ils ne savaient pas où aller.  Et c’est ce que 15 

nous avons perdu dans nos valeurs inuites, et cela  16 

est encore... a lieu encore aujourd’hui. 17 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉ DENIS-BOILEAU : 18 

And you were telling me that people don’t feel 19 

empowered to do it now? 20 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 21 

Le "empowerment", l’habilité... ils ont perdu la 22 

capacité, l’habilité d’avoir l’autorité de faire 23 

les choses par eux-mêmes, et il semble que nous 24 

voyons l’homme blanc... on se dit, ah, (il) faut 25 
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suivre la voie de l’homme blanc.  Mais pour nous, 1 

pour les générations futures, lorsque vous 2 

commencez à comprendre qu’est-ce qui est arrivé 3 

dans le passé, ce que mes parents ont vécu, nous 4 

avons vécu ses difficultés, alors essayons plus 5 

fort et essayons d’apprécier, de nous apprécier 6 

mutuellement et de reconquérir nos valeurs inuites, 7 

au lieu de dire que ces blancs peuvent faire mieux 8 

que moi, c’est le... c’est notre tendance à voir 9 

les hommes blancs.  Et dans le processus, nous 10 

oublions nos valeurs inuites. 11 

On ne semble plus être capable de stabilité. 12 

Alors quand on comprend ce qui est arrivé dans le 13 

passé, on peut penser, "ah, nos parents ont dû 14 

vivre ces moments difficiles et ils ont surmonté et 15 

nous aussi on est capables de le faire." 16 

Alors quand on analyse ceci, mais on peut 17 

commencer à reprendre nos valeurs.  C’est quand le 18 

gouvernement a pris contrôle des valeurs inuites et 19 

il les a exterminées les valeurs inuites, bien, les 20 

Inuits sont devenus gênés, ils pensaient qu’ils 21 

avaient aucun pouvoir.  Mais aujourd’hui, quand tu 22 

comprends ce qu’ils ont vécu, bien, moi, 23 

aujourd’hui, je veux mettre en valeur mon héritage 24 

inuit et je veux savoir plus d’où je viens. 25 
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I hope I answered your question. 1 

MARTIN SCOTT: 2 

I’ll add to that, that at a previous... we just had 3 

a meeting of our Justice Committee Coordinators, 4 

and I know I was surprised to hear a Crown 5 

Prosecutors presentation share that, the Supreme 6 

Court of Canada mandated, several years ago, that 7 

Justice Committees must be considered an equal part 8 

or an integral part of the Criminal Justice System 9 

and that their traditional or community pre-social 10 

regulation practices must be considered and 11 

followed.  And that was such a surprise that if... 12 

If we had known that, or if I believe a far 13 

community or if any Justice Committee knew they had 14 

that mandate and were encouraged and supported with 15 

training and resources, we could recover those 16 

traditional past practices and really used them, 17 

knowing that the Supreme Court of Canada stated 18 

that we were entitled to do that.  The communities 19 

were... you know, mandated to do that, and it 20 

hasn’t happened obviously in the many several years 21 

since that was stated.  So much has been lost that 22 

it’s a... it will be an amazing opportunity if that 23 

is true, that the communities can take back many of 24 

the ways the things were done and to try to do them 25 
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differently, because the Court... Criminal Court 1 

System is just not working in this region and... I 2 

don’t know where it is working well but, there must 3 

be a better way, and if we’re mandated to do it by 4 

the Supreme Court of Canada and if the resources 5 

and support and training is made available to us as 6 

Justice Committees, we should be able to make a 7 

huge difference.  Knowing that the... the Elders 8 

and the committee members knowing that that’s their 9 

mandate, that they’re given that power or that they 10 

are entitled to that power, will change everything. 11 

Because we are not equals within the court system.  12 

I don’t believe.  Justice Committees are 13 

appreciated, we’re told “thank you for the work you 14 

do and you support the client, it helps us 15 

determine how we’re going to sentence or what to do 16 

with him” but, we’re nowhere near being considered 17 

equals in that system, where we really consulted 18 

beforehand or during the process. 19 

We’re more like the aftercare part of the 20 

Criminal Justice System and if the Justice 21 

Committees could become the prevention and the 22 

preliminary step, the police working directly with 23 

us, giving us cases before they even become 24 

criminal cases, before charges are laid, the 25 
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difference that could make would be an amazing... 1 

thing.  So, I was very shocked to hear that 2 

information just a few weeks ago and I’ve been with 3 

the Justice Committees for decades now.  So I’m 4 

really hopeful that, with this inquiry and with 5 

this sense that things are not working... and that 6 

statement was made by the Supreme Court, that 7 

things will change, that we will get more resources 8 

and we will be recognized to do more than the just 9 

the work we’re doing now. 10 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 11 

Inaudible. 12 

Par rapport maintenant au financement.  Nous 13 

recevons du financement du gouvernement parce que, 14 

on doit traiter ces dossiers et avec les... des 15 

fois on s’inquiète.  On s’inquiète du fait que, 16 

peut-être on va recevoir notre financement ou pas, 17 

alors parfois on se pose la question: est-ce qu’on 18 

va pouvoir continuer de travailler? 19 

Faut qu’il y ait du financement consistant 20 

qui... et qu’il soit disponible.  Je travaille dans 21 

plusieurs communautés puis, en tant que 22 

Coordonnatrice pour la Baie d’Hudson, je ne peux 23 

pas me déplacer d’un bord puis de l’autre parce 24 

qu’il y a trop de travail pour moi.  Des fois 25 
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j’aimerais avoir plus de gens qui m’aident, plus de 1 

gens qui travaillent.  On aimerait aider le plus 2 

possible, on veut aider nos communautés et les 3 

autres communautés et en tant que Coordonnatrice, 4 

bien, c’est ça qui m’intéresse et surtout après les 5 

audiences. 6 

On a... après les rencontres de Comité de 7 

justice, on rencontre nos clients, on les amène à 8 

la chasse sur le territoire, on leur donne des 9 

leçons de pêche et on fait ça avec nos clients.  Et 10 

le fait que j’ai tellement de travail à faire, je 11 

ne peux pas... même pas me rendre dans les 12 

communautés en tant que Coordonnatrice pour la Baie 13 

d’Hudson, parce qu’il y a un manque de financement, 14 

il y a pas assez de budget qui est disponible.  15 

Et... alors, on se pose souvent la question: est-ce 16 

qu’on va pouvoir continuer ou pas.  Et malgré le 17 

fait que j’ai beaucoup... qu’il y a beaucoup de 18 

choses que j’aimerais faire avec ma communauté, je 19 

m’inquiète.  20 

Vous savez que l’argent c’est toujours un 21 

obstacle et, t’sé, quand on réussit à avoir une 22 

rencontre avec les membres du Comité, on aime 23 

toujours discuter d’idées... on essaie d’avoir des 24 

rencontres pour savoir... ou mieux élaborer le 25 
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travail qu’on doit faire.  Et je suis convaincue 1 

que mes collègues comprennent très bien ce que je 2 

dis. 3 

MARIE-HANNA ANGATOOKALOOK : 4 

I’ll talk about something else.  We’re also given 5 

trainings, we go to Montreal or to... to the North 6 

to... have trainings.  We also go to Saint-Jérôme 7 

or Leclerc, to go see the inmates and we give, 8 

management or anger management.  Not course, but 9 

we... we give sessions on anger management, self 10 

relationships... 11 

We... there was a lady that spoke this week, 12 

that once, to have that here in the North, or to 13 

have it ready in the communities. 14 

We’re taught to give sessions like that, but 15 

we need support, we need help.  We cannot do it 16 

alone, we will not try and then, like, I’ve been 17 

trying to ask, where I had try to ask our previous 18 

supervisor if we could... I’d say "I’ll go to 19 

Inukjjuaq and we all do that together, with the 20 

support of each other (inaudible). 21 

As soon as like, we’re doing in our community, 22 

where... if we start that, what...  23 

On pourrait travailler ensemble et ce serait 24 

bon si on pourrait être des formateurs pour 25 
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enseigner ce que l’on connaît à d’autres, au lieu 1 

de toujours dire, "il y a pas d’argent", il faut 2 

pas qu’on se fasse dire qu’il y a pas d’argent pour 3 

faire ce qu’on veut faire. 4 

MARTIN SCOTT: 5 

So those programs that Marie-Hannah and Phoebe are 6 

referring to are some things that have been 7 

developed by us, in cooperation with resources 8 

through the Makivik Justice Department.  9 

Specifically anger management, healthy 10 

relationships.  And those are being offered to 11 

people in the prisons.  But, as Mary-Hanna said, 12 

wouldn’t it be amazing if that became our mandate, 13 

to offer those same workshops to the population of 14 

our communities, specially the conjugal violence 15 

aspect to healthy relationships.  We understand the 16 

southern courts have a Conjugal Violence Court 17 

System and that involves both the husband and the 18 

wife taking part in workshops.  Or separately 19 

perhaps at the beginning but together as well, 20 

because it takes two to tango, as we say, and if we 21 

can offer those kind of workshops and resources to 22 

the many many many conjugal violence files we deal 23 

with, in our communities, followed-up by the Court, 24 

but that the work is done by the people... by the 25 
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spouses together, or separately, but it’s done by 1 

them, with our help, they would... don’t need to be 2 

in jail to deal with that. 3 

There’s... that’s the main case, where they’re 4 

sent away and the situation is not resolved at all.  5 

They come back and the same is gonna happen very 6 

quickly, because they never had the opportunity to 7 

resolve their issues together, either by themselves 8 

or with the help of others, Elders and counselors. 9 

So, to me, that’s a very promising mandate for 10 

us, but I think what has also been mentioned is... 11 

our funding has been so... temporary; year by year 12 

we’ve been told by the previous supervisor there 13 

wouldn’t be any funding perhaps for those meetings, 14 

for us to gather together.  There was not even 15 

enough funding to hire people full time.  Everyone 16 

was part time just until a couple of years ago.  17 

The fact that we have a Hudson Bay and Ungava Bay 18 

Coordinator now is wonderful, these are new full-19 

time positions, but they’re the only persons still 20 

in their home community.  So a second full-time 21 

individual is needed in those communities to do the 22 

work in their home communities while they are 23 

traveling helping the smaller communities with 24 

their files. 25 
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So... and we’re not sure.  I have no...  We 1 

used to get more information from the supervisor’s 2 

how tenuous the funding was or how... maybe we’re 3 

not going to have money next year. 4 

It has changed with governments, it has 5 

changed with ministers, I believe, so...  That’s a 6 

huge issue.  Why are we not guaranteed funding for 7 

the important work that’s being done.  Why is it 8 

just reapplying every year.  We still have to 9 

reapply every year, as an organization, through 10 

Makivik for the funding for our position. 11 

I understand other areas of Quebec have much 12 

more funding for their local... Justice Committee.  13 

So, that’s always an issue we can talk about is the 14 

funding and the amount of funding, that just not 15 

seem to be available to our region at this time. 16 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 17 

Yes.  There are eight (8) Justice Committees in 18 

Nunavut.  We’re fourteen communities, but there are 19 

only eight (8) communities that have Justice 20 

Committee. 21 

MARTIN SCOTT: 22 

And most of those are part time Coordinators, I 23 

believe. 24 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 25 
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Yeah. 1 

MARTIN SCOTT: 2 

Or they used to be anyway. 3 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU : 4 

About the funding, I have a question.  There seems 5 

to be kind of contrast where we hear that there is 6 

a lack of funding, but we hear as well that some 7 

Justice Committees don’t even spend all the money 8 

they have.  Could you just explain why that is, 9 

according to you? 10 

MARTIN SCOTT: 11 

Well, I’ll share that... I’m part time, our 12 

community is very small, and we had some funding 13 

for taking people [out in] the land and doing those 14 

things, but it’s... there needs to be more support 15 

I believe, more training and more encouragement to 16 

use that funding.  We did not use all of our 17 

funding.  Perhaps a full-time Coordinator could do 18 

more.  That funding is...  It takes a lot of money 19 

too to do those things and that funding was... 20 

would had to be requested and often, we would have 21 

to wait for the funding to come once we requested 22 

it and then the season was already passed to do 23 

a... an igloo building session with young men, 24 

because it was already spring time where...  But 25 
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that’s probably more my fault or our fault for 1 

taking to long to request the funding and not have 2 

it in advance.  I’ll just share that that’s perhaps 3 

why we didn’t use all of our funding. 4 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 5 

Yeah.  I’m... I’m full-time back home so I have 6 

more time to do activities.  If I was part-time, I 7 

probably won’t have time because of the time.  8 

Sometimes we have clients that we have to take out 9 

in the land before their court date.  Or after 10 

their court.  Or if they were just... getting out 11 

of jail, sometimes they come back, they have 12 

nothing to do.  So we try to give them activities 13 

out in the land with our Elders.  But for part-time 14 

it’s pretty not... it’s not easy.  Because, we need 15 

to take time to organize.  So, a full-time is... 16 

makes it a lot easier to be full-time, ‘cause you 17 

got more time to do... to organize and give 18 

activity. 19 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 20 

The funding are separate.  There’s funding for the 21 

workers and there’s funding for the clients.  22 

They’re two things.  So, maybe he didn’t get the 23 

proper information. 24 

MARTIN SCOTT: 25 
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I will add too that, perhaps our concept of... 1 

smaller communities are less trained Coordinators 2 

or committees that don’t feel they have the 3 

mandate, perhaps don’t... feel empowered to create 4 

those programs and do those things.  As a Justice 5 

Committee, they perhaps deal more with the concrete 6 

files that are given to them from the Court, which 7 

is just, you...  These people are mandated with 8 

conditions to meet with the Justice Committee or 9 

they have to oversee the community service hours. 10 

But the wider scope of what we do could be much 11 

more supported, could be... there could be much 12 

more training and I don’t know if...  Just now I 13 

believe, at the Makivik level, there are more 14 

people that are able to do that, that have been 15 

hired.  Before, it was just one person or two 16 

people.  Everyone is stretched with the budget we 17 

have I believe. 18 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU : 19 

Yes.  Because we talked earlier about the fact 20 

that, sometimes the community lacked this sense of 21 

empowerment and right to do... social regulations, 22 

but you were telling me as well that, some Justice 23 

Committee Coordinator as well may... might feel 24 

this lack of empowerment to do social regulations 25 
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themselves. 1 

MARTIN SCOTT: 2 

That’s my humble opinion.  Over the years, working 3 

with different Coordinators, that it’s... it’s a 4 

difficult job, you’re dealing with... some very 5 

serious cases sometimes and the community members 6 

that... of the committees are not necessarily 7 

comfortable with taking on the role of deciding 8 

what to do, even in... the example is alternative 9 

measures.  It really could be considered a gift, 10 

from the Criminal Court System, that we are allowed 11 

to... determine ourselves, as a Justice Committee, 12 

how to deal with a file and how to resolve it 13 

locally and the Crown can’t even say “it’s not good 14 

enough” or “what you did is inappropriate.”  That’s 15 

really a gift that we should all be doing as 16 

Justice Committees.  But I believe some of the 17 

newer or less experienced Coordinators don’t feel 18 

empowered to even take on the alternative measures 19 

file, so...  The solution, I guess, would be more 20 

training, more support, more support from more 21 

capable and experienced coordinators. 22 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 23 

Yeah.  Like I said, if I could have someone to... 24 

you know, take care of the files I have and I could 25 
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go... able to go out and go to another community to 1 

help.  And I can’t.  I don’t have time to do that 2 

because I have so much files that I need to focus 3 

on. 4 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU : 5 

I’m gonna come back to what you were talking 6 

Martin, about the fact that Supreme Court of Canada 7 

said that when a Judge is... ordering a sentence on 8 

a native person, the Judge has to take into 9 

consideration the native way, basically, 10 

[assessing] justice.  So here would be where could 11 

say the Inuit way of saying social regulation 12 

justice. 13 

What we heard a lot is that, the way the Court 14 

System wants this to happen, they say while it’s  15 

the Justice Committee can tell us how to do that 16 

because we don’t know what the Inuit way of doing 17 

stuff.  Are you being asked by the Court, your 18 

opinion on that? 19 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 20 

For myself...  21 

(Inuktitut traduit) Quand... il y a eu 22 

seulement une fois quelqu’un m’a demandé.  Je pense 23 

c’était le juge qui me l’a demandé.  Seulement une 24 

fois, avant qu’il procède au cas, et il m’a demandé 25 
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ce que je pensais.  Seulement qu’une fois par 1 

exemple.  Et je me suis même fait demander mon 2 

opinion.  Il m’a dit "ta question est très très 3 

importante, tu sais que si un juge pourrait 4 

communiquer avec nous ou collaborer avec nous, 5 

juste pour qu’il puisse mieux comprendre quelle 6 

sorte de clients il a devant lui, et il pourrait 7 

plus se rendre compte comment que nous on veut 8 

aider le client et comment que le client pense ou 9 

comment nous on pense. 10 

Moi je pense que ça, ça serait la chose la 11 

plus importante.  Si le juge nous demanderait c’est 12 

quoi notre opinion ou c’est quoi on pense, je pense 13 

que ça aiderait les détenus, ou les contrevenants. 14 

On veut dire des choses mais ils nous posent 15 

pas la question.  On se fait pas donner une 16 

opportunité de s’exprimer.  Je crois que peut-être 17 

que, si la personne pourrait être envoyée à la 18 

maison au lieu d’être envoyée en prison, ça 19 

pourrait aider.  Si on fait... s’ils nous 20 

demanderaient tout simplement notre opinion, mais 21 

on se fait jamais donner cette chance.  Je 22 

m’excuse. 23 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 24 

From my part, no, I have never been asked for a 25 



VOLUME 161 MARTIN SCOTT, MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 ET PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK 

- 115 - 

judge recommendations or if I have any input.  But 1 

it would be nice. 2 

MARTIN SCOTT: 3 

Yeas ago I traveled to Kuujjuaq for a very serious 4 

file we had, and that was the one time as well that 5 

the judge... because we had met the Committee with 6 

the gentleman and he was doing much better by the 7 

time the file finally reached court in sentencing’s 8 

phase, he was ready for... counseling, healing, he 9 

was going to penitentiary and we said, as a 10 

sentence recommendation, we absolutely insist that 11 

this man have access to a healing program while 12 

he’s in penitentiary, in inuktitut.  And the Judge 13 

took that and he put it into the Court records and 14 

it... after almost five (5) years of the man being 15 

in penitentiary, he was... they rushed at the last 16 

year to try to send him to Ontario, because they 17 

realized they had never completed that mandate;  18 

Ontario had a Inuktitut healing program call Tupiq 19 

at Gravenhurst or something.  And they tried to 20 

send him there three (3) times, but each time he 21 

week late, and so he wasn’t accepted into the 22 

program, and because of that, he failed his parole 23 

and it was never... anyway... 24 

So that’s just an example where the sentence, 25 
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we were asked and it was... taken by the Judge, 1 

thankfully, but it still didn’t result in the 2 

actual output that was requested, because of... the 3 

way system has it misgiving or failings. 4 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 5 

When I do Gladue reports, we do recommend sentences 6 

or... not sentence but, we give... we do planning 7 

with the client and the client will decide how he 8 

wants to meant... meant the wrong that he did.  He 9 

will either one... means and apologize the victim, 10 

but... but it comes from him, the person that I do 11 

Gladue report for. 12 

MARTIN SCOTT: 13 

My experience is the Gladue reports that I’ve been 14 

writing, very few of them seem... there is... the 15 

other sections of the Gladue report is our 16 

recommendation and, most times, once that we feel 17 

were very good cases to be released to the 18 

community under certain strict conditions – house 19 

arrest if necessary - ended up being sent to jail 20 

anyway by the Judge.  The... resources that were 21 

ready, the progress the client, the accused had 22 

made already through the time a file had taken, we 23 

thought would really be a good example of someone 24 

that didn’t need to go to jail.  But they still 25 
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seem to be sentenced regularly instead of the... 1 

alternative recommendations that we usually make in 2 

our Gladue report. 3 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU : 4 

You talk about the Judge not asking you your 5 

opinion in the sentence.  Do the Crown, sometimes, 6 

ask you your opinion on the sentence before they go 7 

to court?   8 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 9 

 No.  Rarely. 10 

MARTIN SCOTT: 11 

Yeah.  Very Rarely.  Mostly we’re informed 12 

afterwards. 13 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU : 14 

You said earlier that sometimes, you felt like 15 

you’re not equal part of this system, in the 16 

system.  Are you always there, in the room, 17 

where... when the Court sits? 18 

MARIE-HANNA ANGATOOKALOOK : 19 

For me, I’m always at the Court to the end.  20 

Because, I’ve understand there’s a lot of people 21 

who are waiting there.  Sometimes, they... they 22 

don’t know who to talk to, they don’t know who 23 

to...  They always past someone that’s helping them 24 

but, before they arrive, I usually help out.  Yeah.  25 
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These people that are in the waiting room, they’re 1 

afraid, they need to... or they need support there.  2 

They come to you with questions and, even if... 3 

after the are sentenced, they need explanation on 4 

what had happened, because all the words that are 5 

given to them like, “consecutive”, “concurrent”, 6 

all these things, they may understand English 7 

properly, but, there are words that are... I don’t 8 

know how to say...  9 

MARTIN SCOTT: 10 

Technical? 11 

MARIE-HANNA ANGATOOKALOOK : 12 

Yeah.  Technical.  We’re... we’ll go to them and 13 

asked them if they understand or, like, the Judge 14 

will say, “three months on that” and “three months 15 

on this” and “three months on that”...  The person 16 

is gonna stand there and thinking, “oh my God, I’m 17 

gonna be there for... ever.”  So we’re there to 18 

explain what was given to them. 19 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOULAIS : 20 

I was asking as well as you’re present in Court 21 

because, Martin, you told me that you could not 22 

attend always the Court, because you don’t have the 23 

budget to go there. 24 

MARTIN SCOTT: 25 
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Actually there is a budget.  There was always court 1 

appearances budgeted, which was a quite a bit of 2 

money, but it’s just... if it was either myself or 3 

Court... Justice Committee member, just the time 4 

and the effort involved to travel to Kuujjuaq, 5 

they’re there for two or three days, it just wasn’t 6 

feasible for myself and...  Because I do, do other 7 

things.  As a part-time Justice Committee 8 

Coordinator, I also have other obligations and I’m 9 

not able to travel.  But I would hope perhaps 10 

someone else in the future will be able to use that 11 

budget to travel each time, but I imagine that 12 

person would be leaving their home and family 13 

for... nearly a week of... each month, or more, for 14 

the different court cases. 15 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU: 16 

Thank you.  You wanted to talk to me a little bit 17 

about FASD – Foetal Alcoholic Syndrome Disorder. 18 

MARTIN SCOTT: 19 

I’ll raise that because, we just had a file where 20 

the Defense Lawyer contacted me and said, “we see 21 

you’re support letter that mentions that there’s a 22 

concern that this client has FASD or some kind of 23 

condition, as a Court, we have no way to deal with 24 

it, and she asked me for coordinates of other 25 
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people that I have worked with, that are aware 1 

that, in Western Canada, West of Ontario, FASD is 2 

readily recognized as an issue that affects court 3 

cases, that there are assessment resources, people 4 

that are trained to assess individual, whether they 5 

have FASD on the spectrum, of FASD, and the Court 6 

has a separate system for them.  And they’re... 7 

instead of going to jail, they’re helped into 8 

assisted living or depending on their situation.  9 

So there... it’s treated very seriously, very 10 

concretely as an issue that affects the Court. 11 

People with FASD are impulsive and even if you 12 

work with them and they say “I know I can’t do 13 

that, I shouldn’t do that”, they’re going to do it 14 

again.  They have no control over their 15 

impulsivity.  The courts have to recognize that. 16 

Now, this Defense Lawyer reached out the 17 

Justice a few months ago, asking for those 18 

contacts.  Who do we know in Western Canada, how do 19 

we know this?  Because it seems Quebec, I work... I 20 

also work at the school board and we have a very 21 

serious time finding any way to assess these 22 

children in our system that, potentially, or we 23 

believe have FASD and to get extra resources or to 24 

know how they assessed.  It seems those resources 25 
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only exist in Ontario and West.  Quebec does not 1 

seems to recognize or accept that FASD is an issue 2 

and yet, if affects our schools, it affects our 3 

children and those children are growing up to 4 

become our adults in our court systems now.  So, 5 

we’ve had symposiums about FASD, we know it is an 6 

issue here in Nunavik and I’m sure it’s an issue 7 

elsewhere and even in the South for some cases.  8 

So, the fact that Quebec does not seem to have any 9 

resources or even an understanding of FASD files, 10 

it’s just very distressing.  So I felt it was 11 

important to bring that to this table, at every 12 

level: of our children in our school system and our 13 

youth... in the young offenders’ system and our 14 

adults in the Criminal Court System.  We need 15 

assessment of FASD and we need consideration that 16 

there must be alternative to jail time, because, 17 

these people need a different kind of support and 18 

help for their issues that are causing them to do 19 

crime. 20 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 21 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Nous avons une tendance à 22 

avoir un gros problème dans la communauté et la... 23 

le plus gros... un gros problème c’est la 24 

schizophrénie.  Nous avons les membres de la 25 
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famille qui ont la schizophrénie et ça se trouve au 1 

Nunavut... Nunavik.  Lorsqu’il commence à avoir de 2 

la schizophrénie, c’est difficile d’avoir des 3 

ressources pour aider cette personne.  4 

Présentement nous avons des services sociaux, 5 

de police, les psychologues, psychiatres pour la 6 

santé mentale, doivent venir du sud pour évaluer 7 

ces personnes pour voir s’ils ont de la 8 

schizophrénie.  Alors c’est très difficile 9 

d’attendre cette évaluation du sud, et la police ne 10 

peut pas faire grand-chose à cet égard.  Mais 11 

lorsque les personnes deviennent schizophréniques, 12 

c’est très difficile pour nous, pour la famille de 13 

trouver une ressource pour aider.  Nous ne pouvons 14 

pas évaluer la personne.  C’est très difficile pour 15 

la communauté et pour les familles dans la 16 

communauté, et je pense que ça serait important, 17 

c’est que, si le client doit aller en Cour, qu’il 18 

doive être évalué pour la schizophrénie et que les 19 

ordres de la cour, il y ait un ordre pour aller 20 

prendre leurs pilules ou leurs injections.   21 

Et certaines familles n’ont pas de ressources, 22 

certaines familles n’ont pas... personne à qui se 23 

tourner parce que cette personne commence à 24 

souffrir de schizophrénie et ne veut pas obtenir de 25 
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l’aide.  S’ils ne sont pas d’accord, c’est très 1 

difficile.  Car nous savons que cette personne a la 2 

schizophrénie et on peut pas demander de l’aide.  3 

Le fait que la personne schizophrénique doit être 4 

traitée immédiatement, et nous avons découvert 5 

qu’une personne qui avait la schizophrénie a fini 6 

par tuer quelqu’un, parce qu’il n’avait pas été 7 

évalué immédiatement.  Alors puisque nous avons 8 

tant de personnes qui souffrent de schizophrénie, 9 

le fait que l’évaluation prend beaucoup de temps, 10 

et seulement après que quelque chose de majeur... 11 

alors cette personne, qui a commis un crime à cause 12 

de sa schizophrénie, alors ils vont faire une 13 

évaluation.  Mais alors, encore, il faut attendre 14 

pour un psychiatre ou un psychologue, de venir pour 15 

effectuer le diagnostic, assez pour prendre des 16 

pilules et combien de pilules prendre et... et la 17 

force des pilules.  Alors ça c’est très difficile 18 

pour la famille.  Et c’est comme ça que je le 19 

comprends parce que j’ai un cousin avec ce problème 20 

et nous avons appelé les services sociaux.  Ils 21 

voulaient nous écouter, nous aider, mais cette 22 

personne avec la schizophrénie ne voulait pas de 23 

l’aide.  Et s’ils ne veulent pas accepter d’obtenir 24 

de l’aide, c’est très difficile.  Ou peut-être il 25 



VOLUME 161 MARTIN SCOTT, MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 ET PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK 

- 124 - 

pouvait recevoir une sorte de loi pour les forcer à 1 

ce que ces personnes obtiennent de l’aide, ou au 2 

moins avoir des papiers qui déclarent qu’il n’y a 3 

pas d’opportunité que cette personne peut refuser. 4 

Ils doivent recevoir de l’aide.  Alors c’est très 5 

difficile d’être dans cette situation. 6 

Il y a tellement de familles qui souffrent de 7 

cela et nous devons nous assurer que nos Inuits, 8 

nos collègues inuits... c’est parce que ça les 9 

affecte la plupart du temps directement, et je 10 

pense que les administrateurs du conseil en santé 11 

doivent penser à cela lorsqu’une personne 12 

schizophrénique doit aller en cour.  S’ils ont 13 

commis un crime, parfois nous devons les aider et 14 

nous devons nous assurer que cela a été évalué et 15 

que nous savons avec certitude.  Parce que 16 

lorsqu’ils sont déclenchés et que vous avez la 17 

schizophrénie, c’est très dangereux d’être autour 18 

de cette personne. 19 

I hope I make sense. 20 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU. 21 

Thank you.  I know you wanted to share some 22 

concerns as well about house arrest. 23 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 24 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Alors, je voulais mentionner 25 
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cela aussi.  Lorsqu’il reçoit des conditions de ne 1 

pas boire, pas de drogue, alors vous devez suivre 2 

ses conditions, et ensuite il a été arrêté parce 3 

qu’il a été en bris de ses conditions de probation 4 

et il a été envoyé au sud et j’ai reçu un appel 5 

et... je reçois des appels pour savoir si je peux 6 

prendre le... m’occuper du dossier de cette 7 

personne et la personne va en procès, "est-ce que 8 

vous pouvez faire le suivi avant qu’il puisse être 9 

en procès, à paraître en procès." 10 

Alors cette personne venait et je parlais avec 11 

cette personne: "avant ton procès je dois te parler 12 

pour voir si tu suis tes conditions, tu n’es pas 13 

supposé de consommer de l’alcool, tu n’es pas 14 

supposé d’aller près de la personne que tu as... 15 

aggravé, que tu as attaqué." 16 

Avant le procès j’ai rencontré cette personne, 17 

et cette personne déjà connaît, sait, qu’on lui a 18 

donné neuf (9) mois de condition.  Il connaît déjà 19 

que... qu’il va recevoir neuf (9) mois, et le 20 

procureur et l’avocat de la défense avaient décidé 21 

ensemble, mais ça m’a été donné.  Alors cette 22 

personne était... devait venir à moi régulièrement, 23 

alors j’ai pensé que peut-être que la personne qui 24 

venait me voir régulièrement pour la guérison et 25 
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qui est déjà... qui exprime déjà et agit pour 1 

obtenir le pardon de la personne qu’il a attaquée; 2 

que ça soit sa femme ou son enfant ou un ami.  3 

Alors il parle... il en parle déjà, et... pour 4 

obtenir la guérison.  5 

Alors, avant même son procès, je rapporte... 6 

j’écris un rapport sur lui et il était prêt à 7 

pardonner et il était prêt à être guéri; il allait 8 

chasser, il est allé aux rencontres lorsque les 9 

gens viennent chercher de l’aide et mon rapport, 10 

ils ont même pas considéré comment cette personne a 11 

essayé de changer et qu’on lui a donné neuf (9) 12 

mois de sentence.  13 

Alors ça me fait penser, si j’aurais su que ce 14 

dossier m’avait été donné, pourquoi?  Parce qu’on 15 

lui a donné neuf (9) mois.  Lorsque je l’aidais à 16 

diminuer les mois - à quatre (4) mois ou cinq (5) 17 

mois.  Ils prennent pas en considération notre 18 

travail ceux qui sont sous... en arrestation à la 19 

maison et ceux qui viennent me voir pour... voir 20 

pour de l’aide, ceux qui sont en résidence 21 

surveillée.  22 

Alors au moins de dire que cette personne 23 

rencontrait le Comité de justice, ils devraient 24 

réaliser qu’il était en train de changer.  Et 25 
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j’aurais aimé ça que la sentence aurait été 1 

diminuée.  Et ma coordination dans ce travail, est 2 

d’aider cette personne ainsi que les membres de la 3 

communauté.  Mais non, ils ont simplement... ils 4 

sont allés de l’avant avec la sentence de neuf (9) 5 

mois, ils ont pas diminué à cinq (5) ou quatre (4) 6 

mois.  Alors voilà aussi ce à quoi je pense 7 

parfois. 8 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 9 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Il y a beaucoup d’ordres, de 10 

conditions.  Parfois ils doivent aller pendant une 11 

heure pour aller faire leur marché, et, si vous 12 

allez à l’église, vous pouvez aller à l’église et 13 

vous ne devez pas boire et vous ne devez pas avoir 14 

un visiteur qui boit.  Alors ça c’est un autre type 15 

de condition qu’ils reçoivent.  Pendant plusieurs 16 

mois.  Parce que cette personne ne veut pas laisser 17 

son foyer, simplement aller avec les conditions, 18 

mais, parce qu’il pense que personne prend soin de 19 

lui et que l’agent de probation appelle... peut 20 

appeler n’importe quand sur leur cellulaire.  Alors 21 

ces personnes qui ont des conditions et qui ont 22 

accepté de suivre les conditions, mais on leur 23 

donne plusieurs mois, et ils sont habitués à entrer 24 

et à sortir de la communauté. 25 
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They’re gonna break they’re conditions anyway, 1 

because they think they’re free.  They think they 2 

can do whatever they want, nobody’s gonna find out, 3 

I’m gonna have a beer or two, I’m gonna invite 4 

people and I’ll be drinking with them. 5 

And they’re also told: “if you break those 6 

conditions that you will be sent down to serve 7 

longer sentences.”  8 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Et j’espère qu’ils 9 

peuvent être compris, qu’ils peuvent comprendre 10 

leurs conditions parce que, ces conditions de ne 11 

pas boire a été un problème, ça devrait être enlevé 12 

des conditions.  Parce que ceux qui... ceux qui 13 

s’inquiètent, ils boivent pour essayer d’oublier 14 

leurs problèmes.  À cause des difficultés qu’ils... 15 

qu’ils expérimentent, alors ils se tournent vers la 16 

boisson. 17 

MARTIN SCOTT: 18 

I would like to add that... we meet our clients 19 

that are on house arrest, we share with them that 20 

we believe it’s harder than being in jail.  They 21 

have the freedom to make more mistakes.  When... in 22 

jail, they’re controlled completely, they have no 23 

choice of what they’re doing.  So, what Phoebe is 24 

saying, I think, I would agree: house arrest is an 25 
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extremely difficult process for people that are 1 

used to their freedom and they’re still in their 2 

own home, they’re still in their own community.  We 3 

can be thankful that house arrest is still 4 

available, or available again after the government 5 

has changed and it was completely eliminated 6 

before, because it is better than being in jail, 7 

but, they are set-up to fail, and we just stressed 8 

with them... "you are in a more difficult situation 9 

than being in jail and we’ve... we’ll try to help 10 

you as much as we can", but we know it’s almost a 11 

recipe for failure. 12 

So I would like to suggest.  In jail, they 13 

have twenty-four/seven (24/7) supervision.  14 

Anything happens to them, any situations arise, 15 

there’s someone there to deal with them. 16 

In house arrest, on a Friday afternoon, a 17 

fishing trip comes up, that we recommend as a 18 

Justice Committee; they’re going to go out on the 19 

land with an Elder, they will have a weekend, it’s 20 

a beautiful weekend, the probation parole officer 21 

is not there to grant that access to them to leave, 22 

and so they miss that opportunity.  And when... we 23 

email and text these people desperately, "can this 24 

person leaves today, in the next few hours?"  25 
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Sometimes the answer is not there in time, 1 

and... the answer is only comes in on Monday: "I 2 

was off on the afternoon" or whatever...  3 

So, If people are going to be on their house 4 

arrest, perhaps there could be more attention paid 5 

to those extra needs or those extra... extenuating 6 

circumstances.  The flexibility needs to be a 7 

little bit more there, to accommodate them while 8 

they’re under house arrest.  Because it is 9 

difficult to be on house arrest and perhaps more 10 

resources could be deployed or the... the police 11 

could have more discretion locally, to say, "yeah, 12 

we know this person is been doing well, we know 13 

that would be a good thing, you’re telling us, as a 14 

Justice Committee, they should go out on the 15 

weekend with this respected family to go fishing, 16 

go ahead."  But they can’t.  They say "no, that’s 17 

the parole or the probation officer’s decision." 18 

So, just... the idea of house arrest needs to 19 

be looked at a bit more in terms of... some 20 

flexibility to it, or to appreciate how much more 21 

difficult it is for people that are used to...  The 22 

house is just a place to be in the North.  It’s 23 

not...  I mean, to eat and sleep.  People are 24 

generally out on the land and that’s where their 25 
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healing can take place.  That’s where their 1 

connection to their neighbors and their family can 2 

take place.  Perhaps in other areas, you family is 3 

always in your house, so you’re with your family 4 

and that’s great.  But that’s not necessarily the 5 

case in our community. 6 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 7 

Or to have access to... for the person who’s in 8 

house arrest to just call us, ‘cause we’re doing... 9 

giving them activities anyway.  For them to call us 10 

if, you know, if the probation officer is not 11 

available, to have access to call us, instead, and 12 

then we could talk to the probation officer or...  13 

I don’t know... 14 

MARTIN SCOTT: 15 

I think the comment we had amongst each other 16 

was... I think what Phoebe is saying is, a shorter 17 

house arrest would be equivalent to a longer jail 18 

sentence. 19 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 20 

Yeah. 21 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU: 22 

There is no more topics that I... that we already 23 

discussed that I had question for you, but I wanted 24 

to ask you if there’s something else you want to 25 
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share or add to what we discussed already. 1 

PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK: 2 

(Inuktitut traduit)  En gros, j’ai mentionné toutes 3 

les choses que je voulais mentionner.  Je voudrais 4 

vous remercier parce que, je veux vraiment aider ma 5 

famille.  En fait, je veux aider ma communauté 6 

aussi et la région du Nunavik.  Je sais qu’on ne 7 

peut pas réparer le tout, pour les clients que nous 8 

avons, mais nous sommes... nous voulons vraiment 9 

aider.  Et on aime le travail que l’on fait et 10 

j’espère que quelqu’un nous écoute, et je vous 11 

remercie énormément pour cette Commission 12 

d’enquête, et pour tous les gens qui sont ici et 13 

qui participent.  Si vous voulez, si vous avez des 14 

questions, Monsieur le Commissaire, gênez-vous pas, 15 

si vous en avez. 16 

MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK : 17 

Les juges et les procureurs et les procureurs de la 18 

défense, ça serait une bonne chose que eux aussi 19 

soient formés pour mieux comprendre la culture des 20 

Inuits et pour les gens, pour les communautés qui 21 

n’ont pas de Comité de justice, on aimerait qu’eux, 22 

on aimerait que toutes les communautés aient un 23 

Comité de justice.  Pour que...  Parce que, on veut 24 

aider notre... nos Inuits.  On veut aider les 25 
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Inuits.  On veut que tous les Inuits aient accès à 1 

un comité de justice.  Thank you. 2 

MARTIN SCOTT: 3 

I do have a specific topic, very quickly, which 4 

Aupaluk and the communities that do not have the 5 

Court come to our town, I have a solution that will 6 

also, perhaps, lessen the load in the communities 7 

where the courts do take place, because those 8 

courts are overwhelmed by... all the files coming 9 

in from the smaller communities. 10 

Years ago, they used to come to every 11 

community, it would disrupt the school maybe for a 12 

while or something, but at least, the Court was 13 

being held in each community. 14 

In Aupaluk specifically, we have a building 15 

available.  It’s been available for over a year, we 16 

wrote a letter to the Ministry of Justice, we said, 17 

"we believe we can now house the... or accommodate 18 

the Court in Aupaluk", it was directed... the 19 

municipality also wrote the same support letter.  20 

We haven’t heard a thing back from anyone.  But, we 21 

suggested that the (inaudible) clients who we are 22 

helping that doesn’t have a Justice Committee could 23 

also then come to Court in Aupaluk; it’s a closer 24 

community, the families are more close and there 25 
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wouldn’t be the temptations of Kuujjuaq in the...; 1 

it’s such a big town, with the bar and all these 2 

things.  So maybe that would lessen the load in 3 

Kuujjuaq, it would have the Justice Committee of 4 

Aupaluk available to meet with the clients and the 5 

lawyers and the Judge in our community, and that 6 

people would not have to travel, leave their home 7 

and their families for Court.  And I would 8 

assume...  I believe all the towns that travel 9 

don’t have a Justice Committee.  But even without a 10 

Justice Committee, I believe the Court should go to 11 

their communities, so that the families could be 12 

there in the Court to have some input to the 13 

judge’s decision and that... this needs to happen 14 

and it’s... the stress on the families to leave 15 

their communities can’t be overstated enough, and 16 

the individuals and... and the disruption to the 17 

community itself. 18 

A small community that loses the bus driver or 19 

a nurse interpreter or a teacher at the school, the 20 

entire... or daycare worker, the entire community 21 

is affected for three or four to five days while 22 

they’re gone to Court, where it would be only one 23 

afternoon or one day, but if the Court was in the 24 

community. 25 
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And again, I would offer my thanks that we are 1 

here to... you’re here to hear us and that we are 2 

able to present at this Commission.  Thank you. 3 

THE COMMISSIONER: 4 

Thank you very much for sharing.  I will offer 5 

other counsels if they have question, I don’t know. 6 

Me MAXIME LAGANIÈRE: 7 

I have no questions, thank you. 8 

Me MARIE-PAULE BOUCHER: 9 

I won’t have any questions, thank you very much. 10 

Me DENISE ROBILLARD: 11 

I don’t have questions, thank you. 12 

THE COMMISSIONER: 13 

So, now it will be my pleasure to thank you very 14 

much for sharing with us.  It’s very important.  I 15 

told you before your start your testimony that I 16 

feel Justice Committee are really important in the 17 

North.  It’s a...  And we should have Justice 18 

Committee in each community.  Now we have eight (8) 19 

out of fourteen (14).  We should have more.  And... 20 

the role of Justice Committee will be so important.  21 

I will be very short.  I think, some years ago, the 22 

system destroyed the way of life of Inuits.  I 23 

heard about dogs slaughtered, their consequences on 24 

family; Louisa told us yesterday.  It’s awful what 25 
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happened.  You told us today again. 1 

We heard about residential school and many 2 

other things. 3 

I think people in the North, in Nunavik, have 4 

the right to be heard, have the right to be 5 

listened and have the right that what’s done is 6 

done after consulting people in town and, after the 7 

problem that occurred, not so far... not so long 8 

away, Elders are still living or lived what 9 

happened with the dogs and residential school and 10 

everything.  They can tell about that.  They can 11 

tell about the consequences. 12 

So now we have the Justice System.  Before, 13 

there was something else; you had your own way to 14 

settle problems, with Elders, people trying to get 15 

back to harmony in the groups.  Now we have our 16 

system. 17 

First of all, nobody explained the system to 18 

the people of the North.  And people have trouble 19 

to understand because there’s not enough 20 

translation, at each stage of the process.  I heard 21 

about that this morning from you. 22 

You need interpreters.  Defense should have 23 

the time to discuss with clients, with... 24 

sufficient time, so people will understand if they 25 



VOLUME 161 MARTIN SCOTT, MARIE-HANNAH ANGATOOKALOOK 

NOVEMBER 16, 2018 ET PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK 

- 137 - 

are going to plead guilty or not. 1 

I’m told people are pleading guilty to... to 2 

get away from the system and to finish as soon as 3 

possible.  It’s no the way it should be.  Not the 4 

way justice should be rendered. 5 

So I think, and if I’m understanding well, I 6 

think Justice System - and I mean Judges, Crown 7 

Attorney, Defense Lawyer, Probation Officer - 8 

should come in each community to discuss with 9 

people there, the way it should work, with Justice 10 

Committee properly funded, so they can work.  And 11 

when we speak about money, it’s obvious to me that, 12 

if we can save money, plane tickets, from Aupaluk 13 

to Kuujjuaq or somewhere else, I think it counts.  14 

The use to pay for something much more useful.  So 15 

this is what I think. 16 

I think more should be done and not to be done 17 

for people here, but with people here.  Listening 18 

to you.  You have experience.  You can help to have 19 

other Justice Committee elsewhere. 20 

You’re telling that people going to jail, they 21 

are going out and with no support at all.  People 22 

getting conditions... some conditions that it’s 23 

obvious they will... be a problem, they will be 24 

arrested again.  And we heard statistics concerning 25 
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offenses, offenses against the system; breach of 1 

conditions.  It’s awful.  It’s non-sense.  2 

Something else should be done.  And Justice 3 

Committee are there. 4 

You’re telling me the police may communicate 5 

with Justice Committee and settle things without 6 

going to all the system?  It will be faster, we 7 

won’t have... people won’t have to live 8 

postponements one after the other.  It’s too long. 9 

And it remembers me a report called, if I remember 10 

well, “Inuit task force on justice.”  At the 11 

beginning of (the) nineties (90s). 12 

I remember Zebedee Nungak was part of it and 13 

some other person.  And I remember specially 14 

Simouni(ph) Sivuarapik.  And I remember the page, 15 

page 49, the bottom, where he said, “let’s us take 16 

care of minor cases, summary cases, it will go 17 

fast.  And take care of major cases, it will go 18 

again faster.” 19 

I just wanted to repeat this but I think 20 

nobody heard them.  I remember but... nothing has 21 

changed. 22 

So I’ll thank you again on this and...  Oh, 23 

you have some documents to file?  Okay.  Let’s go. 24 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU: 25 
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Thank you.  What’s the number again - sorry? 1 

THE CLERK: 2 

954. 3 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU : 4 

So, under P-954, it’s actually Martin Scott who 5 

wrote two reports, Mr. Commissioner, he wrote other 6 

stuff that he didn’t take to you. 7 

- PIÈCE COTÉE P-954 - 8 

THE COMMISSIONER: 9 

That’s all for recommend? 10 

Me MARIE-ANDRÉE DENIS-BOILEAU : 11 

There’s two.  Under P-954 devient Commission Report 12 

and under P-955, Additional Comments to the Viens 13 

Commission Report from Martin Scott. 14 

- PIÈCE COTÉE P-955 - 15 

THE COMMISSIONER: 16 

So, again I will like to thank you very much.  I 17 

hope people will go back on our website; because 18 

your testimony will be on our website.  It will be 19 

possible to listen to what you told us today and I 20 

hope they won’t only listen and people in charge 21 

will do something.  And it will be there for five 22 

(5) years.  So, nobody can tell that they didn’t 23 

have the time to look at what you said and to 24 

listen to what was said. 25 
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So thank you very very much.  I wish you the 1 

best. 2 

[PHOEBE ATAGOTAALUK :] 3 

Nakurmiik. 4 

THE COMMISSIONER: 5 

So we’re suspend till...  I think we’ll have to go 6 

to two o’clock (2:00 p.m.) if you want...? 7 

Me ÉDITH FARAH-ÉLASSAL: 8 

I don’t know the schedules...  I know you have 9 

statement to file.  It was said to be one thirty 10 

(1:30 p.m.) and there... there’s been one... 11 

THE COMMISSIONER: 12 

It was sent to be at one thirty (1:30 p.m.) but I 13 

think now it will only be two o’clock (2:00 p.m.). 14 

Me ÉDITH FARAH-ÉLASSAL: 15 

Two o’clock (2:00 p.m.). 16 

THE COMMISSIONER: 17 

Yeah, we are... we will give time to translators to 18 

go for lunch and so...  Two o’clock (2:00 p.m.). 19 

SUSPENSION 20 

---------- 21 

REPRISE  22 

THE CLERK: 23 

The Commission is back in session. 24 

THE COMMISSIONER: 25 
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of our own.  And our second daughter gave birth to 1 

a handicap child with multiple disability. 2 

After that, she had a son with another boy.  3 

Our grand-daughter name is with disability.  4 

Her brother is from about 5 

two years younger than our first grand-daughter. 6 

When they moved to they were gonna 7 

stay with the... with the in-laws in one bedroom, 8 

four of them.  So we asked our daughter: so, would 9 

you want our grand-daughter to be a burden to them?  10 

We asked our daughter that we could look after our 11 

grand-daughter  until they get their own 12 

place. 13 

While they were living in  they were 14 

partying too much.  Their son had to be put in a 15 

foster family and we didn’t know about it.  And 16 

they had to go to Court numerous time.  And when 17 

the Court had decided to put my grand-son 18 

with us until majority, meaning until he’s eighteen 19 

(18), we were okay with that. 20 

So we asked the DYP in  to get some 21 

kind of a documentation to show our tax agent that 22 

we have a new dependent in our family.  And 23 

about... we waited a month to get a... this 24 

documentation before tax season.  They got us the 25 
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court document that was... the proceedings from the 1 

hearing of the judgment to place my grand-son with 2 

us. 3 

On... it was twelve (12) pages... and on page 4 

7, there’s a reading saying that, the Court is 5 

aware that  has a older sister who suffered a 6 

serious injury from the hands of her mother called 7 

baby shaken syndrome. 8 

To this day, tell you this... this 9 

story.  Our doctor hasn’t diagnosis my grand-10 

daughter why is like that.  Why did the Court 11 

accept this accusation against my daughter. 12 

And during those proceedings, we... none of my 13 

family - myself, my wife, my daughter - was in 14 

those proceedings.  My daughter was incarcerated 15 

downtown.  We were in and those proceedings 16 

were held in  Why did they proceed?  17 

There was nobody to object to anything that was 18 

said. 19 

When I showed these documents to our doctor, 20 

he was absurd that our grand-daughter wasn’t able 21 

to be back not with the baby shaken syndrome from 22 

the hand of her mother.  Our doctor, family doctor 23 

wrote a letter to whom it may concern to say 24 

otherwise, that what was said in those Court 25 
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proceedings was not correct.  Correct diagnosis. 1 

When I showed these, showed these... to social 2 

services in  they... they were... they had 3 

nothing to say.  To this day, the... they haven’t 4 

apologized to anything.  That this was done to my 5 

daughter.  My daughter was labelled to be a bad 6 

mother.  Of course, she wasn’t perfect, but she 7 

never hurt her child. 8 

The Court had accepted that the... my grand-9 

daughter was shaken so badly that she’s 10 

handicapped.  That’s not the case.  Without any 11 

medical documentation, (sniffs) without any proof, 12 

Court had accepted what was there.  Why is this 13 

possible? 14 

I’ve written so many letters to social 15 

services, the DYP...  No explanation.  I tried to 16 

get lawyers, no legal aid lawyers, anybody.  I 17 

called... Amos, when the Court is in I 18 

go... I tried to seek lawyers.  I get past around, 19 

I can’t get no help to get answers.  ‘Cause of 20 

this, my daughter had a very low self-esteem.  She 21 

[couldn’t] fight for herself.  I... tried helping 22 

my daughter, couldn’t get nowhere.  When I asked to 23 

come here for this Inquiry, for Commission, to 24 

speak now, I almost jump of my... the building.  So 25 
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excited that I will finally get heard. 1 

(Inuktitut translation) 2 

(Crying) C’est beaucoup de difficultés de ne 3 

pas savoir vers qui se tourner, de ne pas pouvoir 4 

aider ma fille.  J’avais pas arrêté de l’aimer 5 

parce que c’est ma fille, en dépit de ce qu’elle a 6 

fait. 7 

Le système de la cour de justice pense qu’ils 8 

sont le Seigneur.  Est-ce que c’est les seuls à 9 

discriminer contre les Inuits? 10 

Le système... il y a rien qui a été fait.  La 11 

cour a parjuré, rien n’a été fait.  La cour a 12 

parjuré, rien n’a été fait.  Est-ce que nous devons 13 

être les seuls à être blâmés?  Personne peut être 14 

blame lorsque la cour domine ou règne. 15 

Les services sociaux, j’ai présenté les faits 16 

avec des documents.  Même avec ce que j’ai 17 

présenté, les faits, avec des documents en noir et 18 

blanc, quelqu’un a parjuré en cour et rien n’a été 19 

fait.  Rien n’est fait. 20 

J’aimerais que quelqu’un soit redevable pour 21 

ce pourquoi ma fille a été accusée.  On m’a dit 22 

qu’il y a rien qu’on peut faire. 23 

Alors la difficulté qu’on a souffert, la 24 

raison qu’on est ici, c’est pour que d’autres 25 
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personnes n’aient pas à expérimenter... vivre ce 1 

que nous avons vécu. 2 

Si c’est impossible d’avoir quelqu’un qui soit 3 

redevable, il y a rien qu’on peut faire. 4 

If you can afford an individual in front of 5 

the judge, make sure someone is able to object to 6 

the proceedings. 7 

The social services, they’re not God.  They 8 

make mistake too, that’s why we’re here. 9 

The judge that was at that proceeding, he’s 10 

not God.  He allowed this to happen, to accuse my 11 

daughter of such crime.  And no punishment is gonna 12 

be given.  (sniffs) 13 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Comme j’ai dit, ma fille 14 

a été accusée de choses qu’elle n’a pas faites.  15 

Qui ne sont pas vraies.  Pourquoi est-ce qu’ils ont 16 

pu faire ça?  Et personne même qui a... on n’a même 17 

pas demandé si l’enfant était à l’hôpital, il y a 18 

pas de documents que l’enfant... parce que la mère 19 

avait abusé de l’enfant, il y a rien, aucun 20 

document qui prouve ça.  Et cela a été approuvé par 21 

la Cour.  Et on... même la DPJ et les travailleurs 22 

sociaux, on leur a pas demandé non plus.  La Cour 23 

ne leur a pas demandé. 24 

My grand-daughter, she’s nine (9) years old 25 
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today.  My grand-daughter is nine years-old today.  1 

Her name is  The DYP don’t have a file on 2 

her.  They have a stack of follow-up on his 3 

brother.  At one point, the Court had deem my 4 

daughter to [unfit] to look after a normal child.  5 

But fit to look after a disable child?  We had to 6 

adopt her. 7 

Technically, in order to get financial help, 8 

to get the annual monthly child allowance.  There’s 9 

no help. 10 

In Nunavik, in in Quebec, in Canada, 11 

there’s not help for family like us.  Financially, 12 

physically.  High cost living up North.  You 13 

can’t... what you buy downtown is three (3) times 14 

what I buy up North.  My salary, I pay same 15 

provincial taxes, same federal taxes, I pay for 16 

your highways, I pay for your schooling, I pay... I 17 

pay taxes when I work.  I’m get...  I got no help 18 

for my disable child.  There’s no school for 19 

disabled child.  There’s no vocational... training, 20 

PCO training.  PCO training, those...  Let me talk 21 

about physiotherapist.  Well, there’s nothing to 22 

talk about.  There’s nothing. 23 

(Inuktitute untranslated) I’m a beneficiary to 24 

JBNQA Agreement.  That signing took place forty-25 
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three (43) years ago.  I should have more than you 1 

guys, in my eyes.  I pay parental taxes, federal 2 

taxes, beneficiary to this agreement JBNQA – James 3 

Bay Northern Quebec Agreement.   4 

You’re not beneficiary.  You’re not 5 

beneficiary my dear.  You shouldn’t be not.  I am.  6 

I should have more.  And yet I have less. 7 

Woohoo, hello!  Am I speaking the truth or...  8 

I should have more and yet I have less. 9 

They... the Inuulitsivik Health Center that’s 10 

in Purvinituq, CLSC.  Finally, this year two 11 

thousand eighteen (2018) finally have a... maybe 12 

one or two physiotherapists that travel to the 13 

community.  Come to  probably every blue 14 

moon. 15 

There’s a hand... one handful of people in 16 

 that need physiotherapist. 17 

They haven’t come.  My disabled grand-daughter 18 

who is nine (9) years old, had not walk.  Not able 19 

to free stand; she had to lift herself to this 20 

table.  She will side walk.  Free [handstand]... 21 

nothing. 22 

(Inuktitut translation)  Elle ne peut pas. 23 

She can’t.  When a new parent, when their new 24 

child is finally out the diapers, they’re happy.  25 
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They pray God.  Thank God my baby is able to poop 1 

on the toilet.  ‘Cause my grand-daughter is not 2 

aware... she can’t tell “papa, I need to go to the 3 

toilet.”  (sniffs)  She’s nine (9) years old.  4 

She’s in diapers. 5 

None of the family... no family will help you 6 

to raise a child who’s in diaper all the time.  7 

They don’t want to. 8 

First time, we’re both working.  She’s a 9 

at our school.  One of the 10 

teachers has   She’s gonna be out 11 

of work for probably at least a year.  She’s gonna 12 

work then.  The only reason that she’s able to work 13 

now, we have a grand-daughter who is eleven-years-14 

old (11), who’s able to change her diaper.  He’s 15 

our babysitter now.  I’m robbing her from her 16 

childhood.  Looking after the disabled child.  That 17 

hurts me.  ‘Cause we can’t afford anyone else.  18 

There’s no person (inaudible), no...  We go to... 19 

When we go downtown for medical reason, we go to a 20 

school that provides for standing frame, also the  21 

wheel chair, is at  is a 22 

school for... that and disabled children.  We don’t 23 

have that.  And when we have to bring her to 24 

school, we enrol her to a normal kid school.  Our 25 
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school will not pick her up.  There’s no school bus 1 

for that.  We have to bring her to school, pick her 2 

from the school, the school finishes at three 3 

thirty (3:30 p.m.), four o’clock (4:00 p.m.) 4 

latest.  Our job finish four o’clock... uh, five 5 

o’clock latest (5:00 p.m.).  Earliest - sorry. 6 

When I was putting our situation there online, 7 

on Facebook, there’s a site for “Your voice on 8 

Nunavik issue”, on Facebook.  Tried to get our 9 

something...  I put our situation there.  That 10 

we’re [one] income family by no choice. 11 

Somebody tried to help.  There’s a... why 12 

don’t you looking to these Jordan’s Principles. So 13 

I looked it up, I googled it.  I read it.  It was 14 

for people in our situation who has a... 15 

handicapped child at home, who needs financial 16 

help.  It’s for Native People all right, First 17 

Nation People.  Not Inuit.  The First Nation People 18 

are the Crees. 19 

We applied, we tried to apply to them, ‘cause 20 

we don’t... we’re the Inuit, not the First Nation 21 

People, even thought we’re Native.  (sniffs) They 22 

couldn’t give us their... the help.  They denied us 23 

but, they asked to submit anyways, so they could 24 

present it to the... to higher authority, to the 25 
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government.   1 

Why did the government implement this Jordan’s 2 

principles to help First Nation Native People and 3 

not Inuit?  Why are we so different?  We’re in the 4 

same Native indigenous category.  Yes or no?  In my 5 

eyes we are. 6 

They’re Cree, they’re First Nation People, our 7 

Inuit are in the same category.  In-di-ge-nous 8 

People.  (sniffs) 9 

When the government had implemented the 10 

Jordan’s principles, should have been for both 11 

sides. 12 

This year, we submitted our taxes.  We’re 13 

finally getting a little help... a hundred and 14 

ninety-two dollars ($ 192) for handicap allowance. 15 

Our handicap child is nine (9) years old.  A 16 

hundred and ninety-two dollars ($ 192), where is 17 

that gonna get you? 18 

Maintenant je vais parler plus en Inuktitut. 19 

(Crying) La première fois que j’ai parlé, j’ai 20 

parlé à voix haute parce que, ils ont dit que ma... 21 

la première fois que j’ai mentionné que ils ont dit 22 

que ma fille a maltraité son enfant et que c’est la 23 

raison pourquoi il est handicapé, bien ça m’a 24 

énormément blessé. 25 
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(Crying)  Quand tu ne peux rien faire pour 1 

régler le problème, quand tu ne peux même pas aider 2 

ta proper fille, ça nous a blesse énormément et je 3 

vis des moments difficiles parce que je suis 4 

incapable d’aider ma fille.  Nous avons personne à 5 

qui se tourner.  On essaye tellement fort.  On 6 

essaye de trouver n’importe qui qui pourrait nous 7 

aider.  Il y a personne qui veut nous aider. 8 

Le président de KRG ils ont dit simplement, 9 

“on ne prend pas soin des gens handicapés.”  Alors 10 

je leur ai écrit une lettre et elle m’a rappelé, 11 

pour dire “on ne travaille pas avec les gens 12 

handicapés.” 13 

Le KRG – le groupement régional [Kativik] – 14 

eux ils ont dit qu’ils s’impliquent pas dans les 15 

problèmes sociaux.  Le président me l’a dit lui-16 

même.  Au téléphone il m’a dit ça. 17 

Ils aident les gens qui sont capables et qui 18 

peuvent chasser.  C’est quoi qui se passe? 19 

J’ai écrit au président de Makivik et il a pas 20 

appelé.  Encore pas de réponse.  Et là, [ce n]’est 21 

plus le président.  Je veux lui demander pourquoi 22 

Charly Watts senior a été élu en tant que 23 

président, alors je lui ai écrit une lettre et il 24 

m’a dit, “on ne prend pas soin des gens handicapés, 25 
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on n’aide pas les gens financièrement, pour un 1 

enfant handicapé.” 2 

Ils font des recherches sur les quotas d’ours 3 

polaires et ils font des recherches sur les belugas 4 

parce qu’il est en voie d’extinction, ça, ça coûte 5 

cher.  Et ça c’est des animaux.  Et ils préfèrent 6 

aider les animaux que d’aider les êtres humains. 7 

Je ne les comprends pas. 8 

Ce que j’ai mentionné avant, cet enfant il est 9 

handicapé, ils peuvent dire ça peut-être, mais est-10 

ce qu’ils étaient déjà au courant?  Est-ce qu’ils 11 

étaient au courant et ils ont rien fait? 12 

Quand un enfant est blessé physiquement, cette 13 

personne-là doit aller en prison.  Et elle est 14 

jamais allée en prison.  Pourquoi est-ce que la 15 

Cour a été d’accord?  Et ils ont même pas dit 16 

qu’elle était allée en prison, la Cour a jamais dit 17 

qu’elle était allée en prison pour avoir 18 

physiquement blesse l’enfant. 19 

Ils ont juste tout simplement été d’accord de 20 

prendre l’enfant.  (Crying) 21 

Si moi je crie et je hurle en ce moment, c’est 22 

que j’ai de la douleur.  Mais si j’en parle, est-ce 23 

que ma douleur s’en va?  En tout cas, je l’espère. 24 

Quand mon petit enfant était blesse 25 
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physiquement, elle s’est pas fait protéger par la 1 

DPJ.  Est-ce qu’il était au courant à propos de 2 

ceci? 3 

Comme j’ai mentionné auparavant, on ne peut 4 

pas tous être employés... ou embauchés.  Si je suis 5 

le seul qui est embauché, je suis le seul qui a un 6 

emploi, notre maison va être très pauvre, on ne 7 

reçoit pas d’aide de la communauté, on ne reçoit 8 

pas d’aide du Nunavik, on ne reçoit pas d’aide 9 

générale, provinciale, on ne reçoit pas d’aide, mis 10 

à part le cent quatre-vingt-douze (192 $).  Je vous 11 

parle les retours d’impôts. 12 

Alors cent quatre-vingt-douze (192 $) comme 13 

allocation pour un enfant handicapé, mais tout le 14 

monde au Canada... tout le monde au Canada qui a un 15 

enfant se fait donner une allocation pour leur 16 

enfant. 17 

Last year we tried to... apply for handicap 18 

allowance.  They told us that we could get retro 19 

pay.  For some reasons, they pay us... for some... 20 

they pay us...  21 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Alors on peut recevoir 22 

des allocations pour    23 

They told... they pay us... some allowance.  24 

When we applied for handicapped allowance last 25 
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year, they say yes, you fit the criteria we’ll 1 

review your case. 2 

After reviewing our case, they’re saying that 3 

we’re not qualified ‘cause, on the birth 4 

certificate, we’re not in there.  It’s the mother 5 

and the father who has to apply for this. 6 

The Court (inaudible) them that... they’re 7 

unfit.  My daughter didn’t want to look after her 8 

child, once she was told... once she was deemed 9 

unfit to look after a normal child. 10 

When we try to get financial help through 11 

social services, they told they’re nothing... the 12 

only thing that we could get was the child 13 

allowance. 14 

The Quebec government give us child allowance 15 

but they won’t... they didn’t want to give us the 16 

handicap allowance retro. 17 

At the beginning, they said they will, but 18 

they say... they changed their mind. 19 

Since April, we’re getting a hundred and 20 

ninety-two dollars ($ 192) extra.  If we can’t keep 21 

a job, we’re not putting money on the side for our  22 

RRSP, our struggle will continue into our 23 

retirement, unless we change things. 24 

Jordan’s principles for First Nation People, 25 
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government. 1 

We’re gonna keep on helping as much as 2 

we can.  Cause we’re new to this, with a handicap 3 

child, we can go so far.  She’s gonna be so far 4 

behind. 5 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Pourquoi elle n’était pas 6 

protégée quand ils ont dit qu’elle avait été 7 

blessée, physiquement secouée.  Mon petit  8 

était pas blessé du tout, et ils l’ont mis sous la 9 

surveillance de la DPJ.  Au moins ils ont fait un 10 

cas avec la DPJ.  Mon petit-fils a été considéré 11 

d’avoir des problèmes sérieux ou des blessures 12 

sérieuses - serious injuries. 13 

 Can we show them court documents?  What I’m 14 

taking about... from that court proceeding that 15 

says the Court: 16 

“(...) is aware  has an older 17 

sister with serious injuries from the 18 

hands of her mother.” 19 

 (Inuktitut traduit)  Il y a personne qui a 20 

donné de l’aide à  On est les seuls qui aidé 21 

 moi et ma femme.  La DPJ nous a pas aidés et 22 

ils nous ont pas fait la revendication qu’elle a 23 

été blessée par sa mère.  Nous, on veut de l’aide 24 

du gouvernement, pour au moins nous aider à avoir 25 
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une gardienne.  Non.  Ils disent non. 1 

KMHP, les autorités pour l’hébergement 2 

régional, eux sont censés aider les Inuits et ils 3 

peuvent nous donner un escompte.  Ils nous ont 4 

envoyé une lettre en fait, qui stipulait que, "si 5 

vous êtes dans cette situation, je peux réduire le 6 

loyer.  Si tu es handicapé ou d’ici à là, je peux 7 

réduire votre coût de loyer par cent dollars 8 

(100 $)."  C’est ce qu’ils ont dit. 9 

Parce que, un enfant qui est handicapé, dû au 10 

fait qu’il a pas dix-huit (18) ans, ils peuvent le 11 

faire... ou pas le faire, parce que ma femme prend 12 

soin des... de l’enfant handicapé et elle peut pas 13 

avoir un emploi pour s’occuper du loyer. 14 

Financially, we’re handicapped, but the MHP 15 

don’t see that. 16 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Ensuite, si t’es un 17 

parent monoparental, c’est aussi possible pour 18 

avoir une réduction sur le coût de loyer.  Mais on 19 

ne peut pas recevoir de l’aide.  On ne sait pas 20 

pourquoi. 21 

Nous aussi on est les seuls qui sont ouverts à 22 

 avec nos cœurs.  Ils disent "on va vous 23 

aider", mais ces gens ils nous appuient et ils nous 24 

donnent une opportunité pour s’exprimer.  Pour vous 25 
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que... pour les gens qui sont censés nous aider, 1 

bien, vous nous donnez la vie dure.  2 

I was two hundred and twenty (220).  I gained 3 

a hundred (100) pounds; depression, stress causes 4 

that.  Lack of help give me stress.  No one wanting 5 

to listen to me, give me depression.  Rock of my 6 

life give me strength, my wife.  I had... 7 

(Inuktitut traduit) J’ai presque abandonné la 8 

partie et j’ai dit "apportez-la aux services 9 

sociaux, je suis fatigué."  Elle a dit non.  Il y a 10 

personne qui m’aide. 11 

La Protection de la jeunesse parce que, elle 12 

dit non.  Son cœur est très fort, elle refuse 13 

d’abandonner ma petite fille.  Si tous nos cœurs, 14 

si tous vos cœurs sont ensembles, il y a rien 15 

comparé au cœur de ma femme. 16 

 My heart, your heart, your love, my love... 17 

compared to my wife, combined, not even a dot.  18 

That’s how I see my wife.  She’s strong.  She puts 19 

up with me. 20 

I have given up four or five times.  "Give 21 

 to social services." 22 

When I... when my letter got to the Director 23 

of Inuulitsi Civic Health Center in Puvirnituq, 24 

trying to request for financial aid and she tells 25 
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me there’s no such thing, not even with the 1 

government.  And she tells me, at our cost, you can 2 

send  to Purvinituq, so you could have a rest. 3 

So I ask this Director "which family will look 4 

after for free?"  And she tells me: "they’ll have 5 

teams.  Teams looking after her."  -"All for free?" 6 

"No, there are workers."  They will pay a team to 7 

look after  while we take a rest.  But they 8 

don’t want to pay us.  They will pay you, or you, 9 

(inaudible).  But not us. 10 

(Inaudible) I mentioned of that lack in 11 

physiotherapist.  Well, there’s no physiotherapist. 12 

My father, two years ago, suffered multiple... 13 

one, two strokes.  He’s in a wheel chair today.  No 14 

physiotherapist has never visit him. 15 

Two years ago, my father had a stroke.  He’s 16 

able to walk, no physiotherapist ever give him 17 

help.  (Inaudible) since end of September I’ve been 18 

going to the gym to maintain my weight, my weight 19 

loss.  I had invited my father-in-law to go with me 20 

to the gym.  He’s improving.  He’s so overwhelmed, 21 

even though I never asked for it, he gives me 22 

thirty dollars ($ 30) a week, forty dollars ($ 40) 23 

out of his pocket.  ‘Cause he wants to get better. 24 

CLSC is not gonna help.  Who’s to help him?  25 
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Out of his pocket, even though I don’t ask for it.  1 

I tell him "I invite you to go to the gym with me, 2 

why are you paying me?"  -"Gratitude."  I’ll go 3 

like that: no, don’t bother.  He put it in my 4 

pocket. 5 

Seventy-two (72) year old man doing that. 6 

My father-in-law.  For two years, he’s been... 7 

he’s been wanted to get better.  He walks down the 8 

street and back, ‘cause that’s all that he can do.  9 

There’s no physiotherapist. 10 

When I first started working out with him, he 11 

could barely hold a three-pound dumbbell.  Now he’s 12 

able to do six... with sixty (60) pound reps, five 13 

(5) of them, forty (40) pounds rep, ten (10) times, 14 

that’s only in two (2) months. 15 

We go three times a week for the past two (2) 16 

months.  Cause I go three (3) times a week. 17 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Pourquoi est-ce qu’on a 18 

pas d’aide?  Who’s family... who’s son, who’s 19 

daughter has to be disable in order to get a 20 

physiotherapist regularly?  Not my father.  Not her 21 

father.  Not my grand-daughter.  Not your grand-22 

daughter...  Do we not matter? 23 

When you think about that, it will give you 24 

stress, depress.  Two (2) years, three (3) years.  25 
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Nine (9) years.  My daughter, grand-daughter is 1 

nine (9) years-old.  Do we not matter? 2 

 Social services, okay.  Let’s talk about 3 

them.  They’re not hatched frank.  We need that. 4 

Social services do not qualify to give 5 

psychiatry.  The town has not provide ‘cause they 6 

don’t have the funding.  The town will give you a 7 

licence mechanic for our truck, the town will give 8 

you a licence lifeguard, insurance purposes.  But 9 

no psychiatrist, licenced psychiatrist. 10 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Ils manquent.  Lorsque 11 

nous avons eu une  il y a un 12 

  Et je peux devenir, je peux 13 

devenir un travailleur social. 14 

As long as my criminal check is okay, without 15 

any training without any licencing, I can become a 16 

social worker.  I had ask our lawyer.  She’s 17 

more... her schooling is more advance that I am.  18 

“Are you qualified to become a social worker?”  She 19 

says no.  But she can get hired.  He knows that 20 

she’s not qualified but, with her schooling and a 21 

criminal check, as long as her criminal check is 22 

okay, you can become a social worker in  23 

Head banger isn’t? 24 

A janitor becomes a... (phrase in Inuktitut 25 
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this letter.  My case worker always says: I 1 

understand your frustration.  ’Cause I called her 2 

when I’m frustrated more.  They use the term “I 3 

understand your frustration.” I can tell you that’s 4 

bull.  ‘Cause when I asked them to write this 5 

letter to the Health Minister, my case worker goes, 6 

“we can sit down and write this letter together.” 7 

So I asked her “why do you say...”... when I’m 8 

frustrated, “why do you say you understand my 9 

frustration?”  If you understand my frustration, 10 

you don’t need my help to write this letter.  She 11 

didn’t know what to write. 12 

To this day I haven’t seen any letter or no 13 

reply. 14 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Ma fille était en 15 

détresse lorsqu’elle vivait à  Elle 16 

buvait et son fils... on a enlevé son fils.  Mais à 17 

elle n’a pas le droit à venir dans la 18 

maison. 19 

Deux mille treize (2013), ils ont décidé que 20 

mon... que son fils allait être à nos soins jusqu’à 21 

l’âge de majorité, jusqu’à l’âge de dix-huit (18) 22 

ans.  Lorsque... et maintenant, lorsque la fille... 23 

notre fille maintenant est à  et depuis 24 

qu’on essaie de... maintenant que mon fils ou son 25 
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fils, après trois (3) ans, et ma fille qui n’est... 1 

depuis qu’elle est revenue, ils ont commencé à 2 

dire, "voulez-vous que son fils soit remis à elle?"  3 

J’ai dit que ça serait une bonne idée.  C’est la 4 

première fois que j’entends une telle bonne 5 

nouvelle et je lui dis que c’est une bonne idée.  6 

Et ensuite, une année plus tard, parce que ma 7 

fille avait changé, et maintenant qu’elle est avec 8 

nous, mais elle ne peut pas prendre soin de sa 9 

fille handicapée parce que, elle est sous notre 10 

charge.  Et ma fille est un des  11 

et ma fille n’est pas une mauvaise personne.  Elle 12 

est une des . Elle fait partie 13 

des   Et j’ai été capable de... 14 

ma fille peut prendre soin de son enfant seule et 15 

moi je peux prendre soin de mes enfants mais 16 

seulement avec ma femme, et je peux pas... je peux 17 

pas être... je lui dis que, elle est beaucoup plus 18 

brave que moi parce qu’elle est capable d’être un 19 

 et moi je le peux pas.  C’est ça 20 

que je lui dis.  Et ma fille est très très très 21 

appréciée que nous sommes ici pour elle, à la 22 

Commission d’enquête. 23 

She’s overwhelmed... she’s overwhelmed that we 24 

are here for her.   25 
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On our way, my wife was posting on Facebook.  1 

My daughter had comments on one of their post: "I 2 

love you unconditionally."  She never used those 3 

words.  ‘Cause she’s overwhelmed that we are here 4 

on behalf of her, she’s able to express that.  This 5 

is helping.  We needed this. 6 

What we don’t need is stress from the system.  7 

A system that is supposed to help us.  The system 8 

that gave me a hundred pound extra weight. 9 

[While] in not in your mandate, the 10 

system mandate is not to (inaudible) why? 11 

I’m a tax payer, beneficiary of JBNQA.  12 

you know,  she will light up your life head 13 

full.  Seriously, she’s a happy little girl.  She 14 

don’t talk.  Se don’t say "papa", "mama", she don’t 15 

say a word.  With her action and mostly expression, 16 

she’s a happy girl.  Always smiling. 17 

And yet, why it... why is not in... in your 18 

mandate?  How come she be in your mandate?  What do 19 

we have to do?  Who do we have to do?  I’ll... do 20 

you in front of my wife in order to be in your 21 

mandate.  I’ll kiss your toes, kiss your feet, in 22 

front of my wife, in order to be in your mandate.  23 

Do we have to say that?  How can we be in your 24 

mandate?  Why aren’t we in your mandate?  25 
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(Inuktitut traduit)  Les paroles que j’ai parlées 1 

c’est pourquoi est-ce qu’ils n’ont pas... pourquoi 2 

ils ne l’ont pas aidée lorsqu’ils ont dit qu’elle a 3 

un handicap parce qu’elle a été frappée par sa 4 

mère?  Pourquoi elle a pas été protégée à ce 5 

moment-là? 6 

Et le frère reçoit de l’aide et personne ne 7 

lui a fait du mal.  Ils disent qu’ils ont fait mal 8 

à mon autre petite fille.  Le frère peut recevoir 9 

de l’aide et la DPJ peut protéger le garçon.  Est-10 

ce c’est parce qu’elle... c’est parce que c’est 11 

 qu’elle peut pas avoir de l’aide?  Personne 12 

peut la prendre?  13 

Le clergé veut pas aider, avec les coûts de 14 

gardiennage, Kativik non plus avec les coûts.  Le 15 

gouvernement n’aide pas non plus, avec la 16 

gardienne, avec ceux qui en prennent soin, avec les 17 

soins médicaux,  aussi, ont généré beaucoup 18 

d’argent pour les familles d’accueil.  Ça coûte 19 

beaucoup d’argent pour aller en cour, et lui, il 20 

est pas blessé, il est pas...  21 

 never been injured by the hands of 22 

anybody.  And yet the Department of Youth 23 

Protection, social services, spent so much money on 24 

 and he’s not been injured by anybody. 25 
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But from the court document, Department of 1 

Youth Protection accused my daughter to seriously 2 

injure my...  And they did not protect her. 3 

(Inuktitut traduit)  Et je suis tanné de ceci. 4 

Makivik worker it is not in their mandate to 5 

present this child, to... 6 

- Interruption de la traduction. 7 

C’est parce que son nom c’est  et quand 8 

on dit le nom de il y a personne qui veut 9 

l’aider.  10 

If they finally build a facility ’cause of 11 

this inquiry, something goes where, if they finally 12 

build a facility for... children with death or 13 

disabled children, named it 14 

Est-ce que vous avez des questions? 15 

THE COMMISSIONER: 16 

Do you have questions? 17 

Me MARIE-PAULE BOUCHER: 18 

No, I won’t have question it was pretty complete.  19 

Thank you very much. 20 

THE COMMISSIONER: 21 

I will look with other counsel?  No. 22 

Me DENISE ROBILLARD: 23 

We don’t have any questions, thank you. 24 

THE COMMISSIONER: 25 
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I will, at the end, recommend that many many 1 

many things be done with citizens of Nunavik by the 2 

government.  That they look at what’s going on in 3 

Nunavik.  Look the way Inuits receive public 4 

services.  And it’s obvious to me, since the 5 

beginning of the week - and I heard about that a 6 

long time before - it’s obvious to me that certain 7 

services, including health and social services and 8 

youth protection given to Inuit will need 9 

improvement, much effort to give better services.  10 

It’s obvious to me. 11 

I can’t tell you this or that will be done.  12 

It’s not in my power.  My mandate is to listen and 13 

to recommend that something be done and I can 14 

assure you, even if I don’t own a magic stick to 15 

solve problems, that I will say in the report that 16 

people of Nunavik are left alone too often, 17 

concerning public services, whether it be police, 18 

justice correctional and health, youth protection 19 

and social services. 20 

So I thank you very much for sharing with us.  21 

I took note and I will surely have recommendations 22 

that something be done to help. 23 

You spoke about «Jordan’s» principles, 24 

concerning the fact that this will serve only First 25 
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Nations, not including Inuit.  I understand that. 1 

And you told us you pay taxes, First Nations don’t, 2 

and... it’s... I understand what you’re telling and 3 

it’s... I’m the one... I’m not the one who decides.  4 

But take for granted that I listened to you.  And I 5 

will wish you the best with your grand-daughter.  I 6 

will... ask that the... with all the possibility I 7 

have, recommend that something be done to help kids 8 

like this, like yours.  And your grand-daughter is 9 

lucky to have grand-children (sic) like you who are 10 

taking care of her in those circumstances.  It’s 11 

obvious you need help. 12 

(It’s) difficult to go to work.  Yes, I 13 

understand you’re leaving your work later than the 14 

school is over and things like that, and no... 15 

possibility to have your babysitting, you have 16 

another children to take care of your daughter, 17 

your grand-daughter, while she could have a life as 18 

a children or child also.  I understand that. 19 

I hope people will understand as the hearing 20 

was behind closed doors.  It won’t be public.  But 21 

your... the transcription of your history will be 22 

on the site.  We will withdraw your name, 23 

identification, so nobody will be able to know who 24 

you are, which... and the name of the child 25 
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La commission reprend. 1 

THE COMMISSIONER: 2 

Oui.  So, welcome back.  And now we’ll proceed with 3 

depositions... deposit of declaration by witnesses. 4 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 5 

Yes.  We will... 6 

THE COMMISSIONER: 7 

So Me Renaud, I’m listening to you. 8 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 9 

Yes.  We would like to deposit many declarations 10 

today, all of them anonymous.  So for all them, we 11 

would like to ask for the protection of the 12 

identity of the witnesses, either because they 13 

requested it themselves or because there’s a case 14 

of Youth Protection involved in the... file or the 15 

witness declaration. 16 

Just to make it clear, we understand that some 17 

declarations might not have the information 18 

regarding the date the declaration was taken, or 19 

the name of the investigative agent who took it, 20 

but this is all information that the Commission has 21 

and that is within the file.  So... 22 

THE COMMISSIONER: 23 

So you’re asking... 24 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 25 
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... could we start? 1 

THE COMMISSIONER: 2 

... for protection of identity... 3 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 4 

Yes please, for all... 5 

THE COMMISSIONER: 6 

For witness 822...  7 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 8 

To 874. 9 

THE COMMISSIONER: 10 

... to 874. 11 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 12 

Exactly. 13 

THE COMMISSIONER:  14 

And the... each witness, the declaration will be... 15 

the first one, 822 will be 956... 16 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 17 

P-956, yes. 18 

- PIÈCE COTÉE P-956 - 19 

THE COMMISSIONER: 20 

... and protection of identity, PI-65. 21 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 22 

Exactly. 23 

THE COMMISSIONER:  24 

Okay.  And the number are all... one after the 25 
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other,... 1 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 2 

Yes. 3 

THE COMMISSIONER: 4 

... for the witnesses, the pieces and the 5 

protection of identity. 6 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 7 

Exactly. 8 

THE COMMISSIONER:  9 

And the...  I may add that, protection of identity 10 

is always either because it is a Youth Protection 11 

case and we have, according to the law, to protect 12 

identity of person involved in Youth Protection, or 13 

also, when people ask us to protect their identity 14 

for any reason.  I always prefer to have a 15 

testimony than no testimony.  Because we are 16 

considering situations, we are not blaming or 17 

judging anybody. 18 

We... it’s... our mandate is to try to 19 

understand what’s going on and, it’s possible to do 20 

it with the declaration, the witness and so we take 21 

declaration. 22 

And also, you may understand that, in Nunavik, 23 

we had more than two hundred (200) declarations.  24 

Our investigators met more than two hundred (200) 25 
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persons in Nunavik, all around Nunavik and it’s 1 

obviously not possible to have everybody travelling 2 

in Kuujjuarapik or Kuujjuaq to be heard as 3 

witnesses. 4 

So, declaration is a way that these persons 5 

may submit to the Inquiry Commission their story. 6 

And I may assure everybody, you may take for 7 

granted that I will read each declaration, and the 8 

declaration will also be on our website in a few 9 

weeks.  It’s... in these cases, where there’s 10 

protection of identity, the counsels of the 11 

Commission will redact everything that may allow 12 

the identification of the person involved.  So, I 13 

want... I just wanted to make sure it’s well 14 

understood.  So, you have all those, these 15 

declarations? 16 

Me CHRISTINE RENAUD: 17 

Yes. 18 

THE COMMISSIONER: 19 

Yes?  So we take for granted (that) they are 20 

deposited? 21 

Me ARIANNE MARTEL: 22 

(Inaudible). 23 

THE COMMISSIONER: 24 

Is there something else Me Renaud? 25 
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Me ARIANNE MARTEL: 1 

No, there’s nothing. 2 

THE COMMISSIONER: 3 

Before I suspend, before going on with the closing 4 

ceremony. 5 

Me ARIANNE MARTEL 6 

Yes, we can go to the ceremony. 7 

Me MARIE-PAULE BOUCHER: 8 

I have...  I have an observation. 9 

THE COMMISSIONER: 10 

Yeah. 11 

Me MARIE-PAULE BOUCHER: 12 

I just want to make sure that the content of every 13 

declaration has been validated with the declarant 14 

by the Commission.  I take it for granted. 15 

THE COMMISSIONER: 16 

 Yeah, you have taken for granted. 17 

Me MARIE-PAULE BOUCHER: 18 

Thank you. 19 

THE COMMISSIONER:  20 

That’s what Me Renaud told us a few minutes ago.  21 

Uh? 22 

Me ARIANNE MARTEL: 23 

 Thank you. 24 

THE COMMISSIONER: 25 
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So now we’ll suspend and I will have the 1 

opportunity to receive Mayor Itachat, sitting with 2 

me.  And I’m always glad to see him.  And we’ll 3 

have also students, I understand, that will be 4 

present.  They are the future of the community and 5 

I’m always glad to see them. 6 

So, now I will suspend.  We’ll have time to 7 

speak later, in a few minutes. 8 

SUSPENSION 9 

----------  10 

REPRISE 11 

CÉRÉMONIE (non transcrite mais disponible en diffusion) 12 

---------- 13 

END OF TRANSCRIPTION 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 
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 1 

Je, soussignée, Ann Montpetit, sténographe 2 

officielle bilingue, certifie que les pages qui 3 
précèdent sont et contiennent la transcription 4 
exacte et fidèle des notes recueillies au moyen de 5 
l’enregistrement mécanique, le tout hors de mon 6 

contrôle et au meilleur de la qualité dudit 7 
enregistrement, le tout conformément à la Loi; 8 
 9 
 10 

Et j’ai signé: 11 
 12 

 13 

  
   
  
  

_______________________ 18 
Ann Montpetit, s.o.b. 19 




